"We are duty-bound to improve residential care for working age veterans..."

UNDER-SERVED

Louis Reynolds Ally Paget



Demos is Britain's leading cross-party think tank. We produce original research, publish innovative thinkers and host thought-provoking events. We have spent 20 years at the centre of the policy debate, with an overarching mission to bring politics closer to people.

Demos is now exploring some of the most persistent frictions within modern politics, especially in those areas where there is a significant gap between the intuitions of the ordinary voter and political leaders. Can a liberal politics also be a popular politics? How can policy address widespread anxieties over social issues such as welfare, diversity and family life? How can a dynamic and open economy also produce good jobs, empower consumers and connect companies to the communities in which they operate?

Our worldview is reflected in the methods we employ: we recognise that the public often have insights that the experts do not. We pride ourselves in working together with the people who are the focus of our research. Alongside quantitative research, Demos pioneers new forms of deliberative work, from citizens' juries and ethnography to social media analysis.

Demos is an independent, educational charity. In keeping with our mission, all our work is available to download for free under an open access licence and all our funders are listed in our yearly accounts.

Find out more at www.demos.co.uk.

First published in 2015 © Demos. Some rights reserved Unit 1, Lloyds Wharf, 2–3 Mill Street London, SE1 2BD, UK

ISBN 978-1-909037-95-3 Series design by Modern Activity Typeset by Modern Activity

Set in Gotham Rounded and Baskerville 10



UNDER-SERVED

Louis Reynolds Ally Paget

Open access. Some rights reserved.

As the publisher of this work, Demos wants to encourage the circulation of our work as widely as possible while retaining the copyright. We therefore have an open access policy which enables anyone to access our content online without charge.

Anyone can download, save, perform or distribute this work in any format, including translation, without written permission. This is subject to the terms of the Demos licence found at the back of this publication. Its main conditions are:

- · Demos and the author(s) are credited
- · This summary and the address www.demos.co.uk are displayed
- · The text is not altered and is used in full
- · The work is not resold
- · A copy of the work or link to its use online is sent to Demos

You are welcome to ask for permission to use this work for purposes other than those covered by the licence. Demos gratefully acknowledges the work of Creative Commons in inspiring our approach to copyright. To find out more go to www.creativecommons.org



Contents

	A note on terminology	9
	Acknowledgements	11
	Foreword	13
	Executive summary	15
1	Background and context	27
2	The characteristics of working age veterans	37
3	Pathways to residential care	43
4	The experience of working age veterans in residential care	55
5	Sector-wide issues in care provision	75
	Conclusion and recommendations	83
	Notes	93
	References	99

A note on terminology

Traditionally, a 'residential home' or 'care home' has referred to housing with a care aspect, usually with communal living and dining areas, separate bedrooms, and care staff on site. A 'nursing home' or 'care home with nursing' has referred to the above, but with an on-site registered nursing component to cater for more complex health needs. The Care Quality Commission defines care homes as offering 'accommodation and personal care for people who may not be able to live independently. Some homes also offer care from qualified nurses or specialise in caring for particular groups such as younger adults with learning disabilities.' Unless otherwise stated, this report will use the terms 'residential care' or 'care home' broadly to refer to care homes without reference to the level of nursing support they provide.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost we wish to thank to the Forces in Mind Trust for generously supporting this project. At the Trust, Meri Mayhew's help and guidance throughout has been invaluable. We are indebted to those veterans who took the time to share their thoughts and answer our questions, and to the staff of the many organisations whose input made our research possible: Blesma (The Limbless Veterans), Blind Veterans UK, Erskine, Leonard Cheshire Disability, Royal Air Force Benevolent Fund, Royal British Legion, Royal Navy Benevolent Trust, Royal Star and Garter Homes, Scottish Veterans' Garden City Association (Houses for Heroes) and St Vincent Care Home. We would particularly like to thank Paul Hughesdon of the Confederation of Service Charities (Cobseo) Care Homes Cluster and all the cluster members for their support and assistance, as well as the staff of Queen Alexandra Hospital Home and the Royal British Legion Industries Village Aylesford for their support for our research. We are grateful to the Veteran Welfare Service, which assisted us in our enquiries, and to NHS England and Ilford Park Polish Home.

At Demos, sincere thanks go to Duncan O'Leary and Claudia Wood for their helpful advice and scrutiny, Catrin Thomas for research support, and Daniela Puska, Sophie Gaston, Megan Poole and Laura Kent for expertly seeing the report through to publication and launch. Any mistakes or omissions are the authors' own.

Louis Reynolds Ally Paget October 2015.

Foreword

As this report makes clear, while estimates of the size of the group are small, the actual number of working age veterans in residential care is simply not known; it is therefore difficult to judge the scale of the problems they face. The majority of recently injured are well supported and live largely independent lives, but there is clearly a group which needs a higher level of assistance through residential care. My own experience in funding residential care suggests that a great deal can be achieved at a relatively modest cost, whether it be through establishing a network to share best practice, or merely by recognising that working age veterans can have very different social and emotional support needs, which in turn can be met in ways subtly distinct from those required to meet the needs of the general population.

Some wider themes have also emerged from this report that resonate with the work of the Armed Forces charity sector in many other areas: data sharing; identification of veterans; regional champions; lived experiences. These are all aspects of the social sector that can be improved through greater collaboration of service providers, and a far better understanding of the size, situation and unsatisfied needs of a relevant population.

At Forces in Mind Trust, we seek to generate an evidence base, and then to use it to influence others and to contribute to policy discussions. Demos has provided a credible and balanced set of recommendations that deserve consideration by all those involved in supporting working age veterans in residential care, policy-makers and service deliverers alike.

Air Marshal Chris Nickols Director of Forces in Mind Trust and Controller of the Royal Air Benevolent Fund

Executive summary

The end of military operations in Afghanistan in 2014 brings to a close over a decade of significant conflict in the Middle East. The human cost of recent engagements has been great; between 2001 and 2014, 21,756 servicemen and women were medically discharged from the Armed Forces for physical and mental health reasons, with 840 sustaining serious or very serious physical injuries or illnesses in recent conflicts.¹

Thanks to advances in medical technology, unprecedented numbers of ill and disabled ex-service personnel are returning, surviving, and doing much more than surviving – benefiting from rehabilitation, and adapting to a 'normal' (if very different) civilian life. But for a minority whose injuries are the most severe and whose care needs are complex, the barriers are greater. They require specialist rehabilitation and ongoing care, and some receive this (at least temporarily) in a residential setting – a care home or nursing home.

While the UK's involvement in the last 13 years of conflicts has been a source of great controversy, the need to support veterans has enjoyed a much broader consensus. This fact is attested to by the creation of new Armed Forces charities like Help for Heroes and the publication of the Armed Forces Covenant.

This report concerns two groups of working age veterans (or 'ex-service personnel') in residential care – those who have been injured or become ill during their service, and those who have acquired an illness or been injured after their service. Veterans who become ill or are injured have specific needs, and are also entitled to the care and support provided by veterans' charities, including veterans' care homes. Yet connecting them to these services is difficult, for a broad range of reasons. The UK's ex-service personnel have had a wide range of service histories, from those who served in

Northern Ireland and the Falklands, to those returning from the most recent conflicts in the Middle East; from those who served for days or weeks to those whose careers spanned decades. Individuals also have a wide range of injuries and illnesses, from traumatic brain injuries to progressive neurological conditions. Many of those with physical injuries – who are the focus on this report – will also be affected by mental illness, which can be more prevalent in the veteran population.

Severity of needs is not the only factor determining whether people are cared for in residential settings or in the community, though it is an important one – a fact reflected in the complex needs of the veterans we encountered. Personal choice, eligibility for local authority funded social care, and availability of informal care from family and friends all play a part.

Care in its modern sense is not about being 'looked after' in an institution. It is about being supported to achieve what an individual wants, to live as independently as possible, even in the context of a care home. That means individuals receiving empowering, personalised care, in keeping not only with the conditions of that individual, but with their aspirations and priorities. For this small group of veterans, who have often experienced such rapid transformation in their lives, individualised and empowering care is particularly important.

This report is the first detailed examination of ex-service personnel, a small, poorly understood group, and thus relatively 'invisible' to policy-makers tasked with planning and funding care. It looks at the care they need, the care they receive, and how they generally come to receive it. It looks at their priorities – the aspects of care they value and the aspects they would like to change – and at the challenges faced by those who seek to provide that support. Ultimately, this report presents a series of recommendations for Armed Forces charities and for government concerning how this care can be improved.

Methodology

For this report, we conducted eight in-depth interviews with working age veterans in residential care, with diverse care needs and spanning a range of ages, as well as one with a veteran's mother. We also carried out semi-structured interviews with 15 staff involved in supporting veterans, from those on the front line (nursing staff) to those in strategic roles (chief executives of Armed Forces charities). We further conducted site visits to two Armed Forces charityrun care homes, and submitted requests under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 to Veterans UK (the body responsible for the administration of Armed Forces pension schemes, compensation payments and veteran welfare support through the Veteran Welfare Service) and the Care Quality Commission (the regulator of health and social care services in England). In addition, we reviewed journal articles, reports and evaluations concerning residential care provision for disabled people of working age in general, and of veterans in particular.

Findings

This report focuses wholly on working age veterans in care homes. However, a number of the observations and recommendations presented in this report are not only applicable to this group, but have implications for the working age population in care more generally.

Who working age veterans in residential care are

This report goes some way to establishing a clearer picture of the working age veteran population in the UK. We found the following:

• The total number of working age veterans in the UK is unclear. As part of our research, we spoke to or were made aware of 33 veterans in residential care, living in care homes run by ten different charities; however, this is a partial and non-representative sample, purely consisting of those veterans we were able to identify through Armed Forces charities.

Executive summary

There are certainly many more working age veterans in residential care. It is important to note that there are reasons to believe that the number of working age veterans in the UK might grow over the next few years, despite the conclusion of recent conflicts.

- Around two-thirds of the working age veterans we came across had left the Armed Forces and were subsequently injured or became ill, and around a third were injured or became ill during their service in the Armed Forces.
- Working age veterans in residential care range in age from 24

 the youngest veteran in residential care we interviewed to
 While they are predominantly men, there are also female working age veterans in residential care.
- Working age veterans in residential care suffer from a range of injuries and illnesses. Around two-thirds of working age veterans we were made aware of had suffered traumatic injuries, while a third suffered from long-term illnesses and conditions. Those who are injured or become ill during their service are more likely to have suffered traumatic injury, while those who are injured or become ill after their service are more likely to have neurological, genetic or other longterm conditions.
- The care pathways used by working age veterans entering residential care vary significantly depending on various factors

 including whether someone enters residential care during or directly after service in the Armed Forces – and chance. Some entered residential care through informal processes, others through formal pathways, for example through social services.
- Our report focuses primarily on veterans in Armed Forces charity-run care homes; it is less clear how many working age veterans might be in generalist residential care. However, given the informal pathways that have often led veterans to veteran-specific residential care, there is reason to believe that

some working age veterans who would benefit from residential care in a home run by an Armed Forces charity are unaware of the option.

The challenges working age veterans in residential care face

Our research identifies the key challenges facing working age veterans in residential care, from the perspective both of those involved in the care of working age veterans in the UK and of the veterans themselves. This report further identifies a number of systemic issues that complicate efforts to support working age veterans in residential care effectively. These are the main observations we made during our research about the challenges of working age veterans in residential care:

- Many of the challenges facing working age veterans in residential care are those associated with care for a small population group more broadly. These include the tension between the desire to be close to family, the need to access centres of specialist care, the desire to be within a veteran community and the desire to live with people of a similar age.
- Those working age veterans in residential care we spoke to were generally happy with the quality of care they received, and were generally positive about the staff and organisations running the care homes in which they live.
- The most significant problem highlighted by the veterans and other key stakeholders was how much younger they are than most residents in the care homes in which they live. In many cases, one or two working age veterans lived as part of a much older population in a care home. For many, this lack of peers leads to loneliness and isolation, in some cases further leading to depression and declining medical conditions.
- While many working age veterans highlighted the range of activities organised by their care home staff, these activities were often focused on the larger, older general population of the home, leaving working age veterans under-stimulated.

- Many but not all working age veterans in residential care –
 particularly those who had been members of the Armed Forces
 for a longer period said that being part of a wider veteran
 community was an important part of their wellbeing. Some
 expressed a desire to interact more with other veterans their
 own age, or veterans facing similar challenges.
- The importance of familial support varied between veterans, but their situations often put pressure on familial relations. In some cases, families had moved to be closer to the care home a working age veteran was living in. Many of the working age veterans we spoke to had experienced a breakdown of their marriage or relationship as a result of their injury or illness.

Recommendations

Drawing on our research and the best practice we identified, we make the following six recommendations:

 Veterans UK should work with Armed Forces charities to establish and maintain a database of all UK veterans in residential care.

Working age veterans in residential care are not recorded or registered in any database or by any single organisation. Consequently, as a group they are essentially invisible to the state and to many of the third sector organisations capable of providing the support they need. In common with other small groups, their lack of visibility makes it difficult for service providers and policy-makers to understand or address their needs in any systematic way.

We propose that Veterans UK, with the support of the Ministry of Defence (MOD), should establish and maintain an up-to-date database of all veterans in residential care, across both veterans' and non-specialist care homes. Armed Forces charities should be full and active partners in this process, contributing knowledge, expertise and their own valuable data. Once established, the database should be accessible

to Armed Forces charities and government services, and there should be an expectation that they use it to inform the effective and equitable allocation of resources across all veterans in this group. The database should record ex-service personnel by age, permitting an accurate understanding of the specific characteristics of those aged under 65.

2. Health and social care professionals should proactively identify veterans with whom they come into contact.

Health and social care professionals should seek to identify and record the veteran status of individuals they come into professional contact with, and assist in directing them to appropriate support. Through these efforts the particular care needs of veterans as a group would be more thoroughly considered, and awareness increased among veterans of the health and social care resources available to them. This proactive 'Do ask, do tell' policy should be of particular benefit to the group of veterans who become ill or injured after leaving the Armed Forces, who receive care through mainstream NHS and social care services rather than the MOD, and are less likely to be put in touch with available support.

3. Every local authority in the UK should have a designated 'Armed Forces and Veterans Champion' with a combined remit for health, social care, housing, employability and education. As care and support is increasingly devolved to a local level, the already small group we are concerned with is at risk of becoming still less 'visible'; there may be no more than one or two veterans in any local administrative area, for example. The bulk of gathering intelligence on, planning for, and championing working age veterans' needs will need to be done at a national level. Nonetheless, it is imperative that veterans' needs are represented, holistically and in the place where they live.

Currently, every NHS board in Scotland, every local health board in Wales and every clinical commissioning group (CCG) in England has a designated Armed Forces Champion.²

Likewise, all four devolved nations have Jobcentre Plus Armed Forces Champions to assist service families to find employment.³ Only Scotland has an Armed Forces and Veterans Champion in every local authority – a local councillor with specific responsibility for championing veterans in the local area on issues such as access to housing.⁴ We propose a single, local champion role which combines all the areas of need stipulated in the Armed Forces Covenant, including health, social care, education and housing. Champions should be expected to consider the particular needs of working age veterans as a group, and to represent and proactively seek the views equally of those living in their own homes and those living in residential care.

4. A best practice network in residential care for veterans should be established, and a best practice guide produced.

Both veterans and providers whom we spoke to agreed on the main barriers to providing high-quality care for working age veterans. Above all, they identified the age disparity between working age veterans and the general care home cohort, and the difficulty in catering for younger veterans' different tastes, expectations and needs for social interaction. At the same time, we saw and heard of examples of settings overcoming these barriers – through flexibility, personalisation, and the provision of opportunities for social interaction outside the care home (sometimes with service experience as a uniting theme). Moreover, we are aware of a wealth of good practice in personalisation and community links in the general care home community, on which all settings with a working age veteran in their care could draw.

We therefore propose the creation of a best practice information sharing network, specifically addressing residential care for working age ex-service personnel. This could be usefully facilitated by the Confederation of Service Charities (Cobseo), and should include individual care homes, care home providers, sector umbrella bodies and the Care Quality Commission. This network would bring specialists and generalists in working age residential care together. It would further serve as the vehicle for the production of a best practice guide focusing

in particular on innovations and successful initiatives for meeting the social and emotional needs of working age veterans in residential care.

5. Armed Forces charities should sponsor an annual 'Veterans' Voices' review of veterans in residential care.

We propose the institution of an annual review of (all) veterans in residential care, with the aim of capturing their concerns and experiences. In practice, the review might involve a combination of survey, interviews and group consultation. The voice of veterans under 65 should receive equal representation with the majority, over-65 population. The review would help to gauge residential care settings' performance in meeting veterans' less tangible needs – like that for social interaction, and a sense of purpose. Its findings should feed into the work of the proposed best practice network (see recommendation 4 above) and should be presented to the Minister of State for Defence Personnel, Welfare and Veterans.

We envisage that one of the larger Armed Forces charities, or a coalition of charities, would be best placed to sponsor this review, though we would like to see it have the full support of NHS England (through its 'Public Voice' work-stream) and Healthwatch England, the national consumer champion for health and social care.

6. Residential care settings should conduct skills audits for their working age residents, encouraging contribution to the care home and wider community.

A rapid loss of independence associated with sudden illness or injury, especially where it necessitates a move to residential care, can be particularly distressing for people of working age. This may be even truer of ex-service personnel, many of whom have a self-concept based on their physical capability, independence and service of others. Our research suggests that a lack of opportunity for engagement with others in the home, or with the wider community outside the home, can contribute to a sense of boredom and isolation among this group, and even precipitate a deterioration in their condition.

Executive summary

For many years there has been a focus in social care on what people cannot do – their limitations and medical needs – rather than what they can do and their personal goals. This is slowly changing across the sector in line with personcentred care and a shift from 'deficit-based' to 'asset-based' approaches to care. We saw examples of this approach in some care homes, where veterans were employing their individual skills – undertaking photography around the home, or tending the gardens.

In a care home setting, just as in a business, or any other setting in which people live or work together, conducting a skills audit simply involves identifying the particular skills and assets that each individual brings. Providing opportunities for veterans to contribute, particularly where those contributions are associated with social opportunities or the concept of service, has significant potential to transform the social and emotional wellbeing of working age veterans.

1 Background and context

The number of working age veterans who need, who will in the future need, or who currently receive care in a residential setting is relatively small. As a result, these veterans have hitherto been largely overlooked in both research and policy. This report will attempt to address that oversight, investigating the characteristics of this population, and using evidence of their experiences and preferences to inform recommendations for how residential settings can better meet their needs in future. Before that, though, we must establish what we know already, what it is important for us to know, and why. This chapter explores why so little is currently known about working age veterans in residential care and why this dearth of knowledge is a barrier to effective care. It further explains the factors which make understanding this group more important now than ever.

Estimating the number of working age veterans in residential care

It is important to be clear whom exactly we are talking about when we discuss 'working age veterans in residential care'. We use the term to refer to 16–65-year-olds, who live permanently or semi-permanently (for the foreseeable future, rather than a time-limited period of rehabilitation) in residential or nursing care facilities, and who have served in any branch of the Armed Forces, for any length of time – from a few weeks to several decades.

There is no complete national database or register of veterans generally in the UK. It is impossible to identify from any Armed Forces source the number or characteristics of working age veterans, and still less those who might require, or already be receiving, residential care.

Furthermore, existing data do not permit an accurate estimate to be made of this group. An Armed Forces charity director of care told us:

There is no way that anyone can get accurate data on veterans in residential care. It's a very difficult population to actually track. The only way we can make any type of estimate of the size of the community is [through] a slice of the population survey.

The MOD holds information on three UK-resident veteran cohorts, in each case as a result of general pension provision or compensation to which veterans are entitled as a result of illness or injury. These cohorts comprise veterans who receive a War Disablement Pension under the War Pension Scheme, veterans who have been awarded compensation under the Armed Forces Compensation Scheme, and veterans who receive a pension under the Armed Forces Pension Scheme (the Armed Forces' general pension provision). Some of these pension and compensation data are broken down by age and location.

In addition, since 2003, the MOD has also recorded the illnesses or injuries sustained by those who have been medically discharged from each branch of the Armed Forces, through its Joint Personnel Administration System and medical discharge papers (called 'FMED 23s'). The number (though not the nature) of serious or very serious injuries has been collected since 2001. Medical discharge records should cover all or almost all of those individuals who were injured or became ill prior to leaving the Armed Forces between 2003 and the present.

None of the above sources provides an adequate basis on which to estimate the group we are interested in. First, not all personnel who sustain an illness or injury in service need long-term residential care. More importantly, as we shall see, these data do not account for those who have acquired support needs *after* leaving service – who, as we shall see, account for the larger number of veterans using residential care. 9

The nature of the data collected by the MOD reflects its principal responsibilities with regard to ex-service personnel, which have historically been confined to the distribution of pensions and compensation. Other services or support for veterans have been spread across the NHS, local authorities, and a broad range of third sector organisations of varying size. More recently the MOD has played a more active role through Veterans UK and its partnerships with Armed Forces charities such as Help for Heroes and the Royal British Legion. Arguably, this historical dispersal of responsibilities has dis-incentivised the central collection of statistics on the ex-service population.

The best and most detailed estimate of the UK's veteran population and its characteristics is the 2014 *UK Household Survey of the Ex-Service Community*. This survey, conducted by Compass Partnership, the Forces in Mind Trust and the Royal British Legion, suggests that there are 6.1–6.2 million members of the ex-service community as a whole, including veterans and their partners, husbands and wives, widows, widowers and children. Within this wider group, there are 2.8 million veterans, approximately 1.1 million of whom are aged 16–65). Although a unique and valuable resource, the utility of the household survey is limited, as one service charity chief executive explained:

Establishing accurate statistics on and analysis of the disposition of the ex-service family is very difficult. The Royal British Legion have undertaken a lot of meaningful research on the Armed Forces community, and canvassed a lot of people for their report. Their estimate is the best, because frankly it's the only quality estimate out there. But if you look at the overall picture it establishes, the margins of error are still pretty enormous.

Most importantly for our purposes, the household survey excludes people living in residential care, hospitals, prisons or other communal establishments. The survey authors estimate the size of this 'hidden population' as being between 190,000 and 290,000, 12 a figure based on 2011 Census figures for the

number of people living in communal settings, and an earlier estimate that some 80 per cent of people in residential care were at one time veterans or their direct dependants, largely as a result of the high levels of military service among the Second World War and National Service generations.¹³ However, because this estimate is based on a generation-specific effect, it is not useful for our purposes. It should be noted that, given sufficient resources, it *is* possible accurately to survey communal establishments; the 2011 Census provides a replicable methodology for doing so.¹⁴

Likewise, there are no systems within health and social care services for routinely identifying and recording veteran status. Unless they have been discharged from the Armed Forces on medical grounds, individuals are not identified as veterans on their medical records. According to the 2011 Census, there were 61,266 working age people in care and nursing homes in England and Wales, 15 but residential care facilities are not obligated – either for the Census or for any other purpose – to collect information on how many veterans are in their care.

Counting the number of beds in residential care settings operated by services charities would provide an indication of the total number of veterans in specialist residential care, but would not tell us their age (important, as under-65s would be in a minority), and would not capture those living in non-specialised residential care.

The importance of understanding the working age veteran population

The group whom this report concerns are in the unenviable position of straddling two little-known groups. As discussed in the previous section, the makeup of the ex-Services community – particularly once individuals exit the remit of the MOD – is not well understood. In addition, in the general population, there is a stark contrast between the wealth of research into residential care for older people (who make up the vast majority of care home and nursing home residents) and that

for working age disabled people. In the latter case, a lack of information has contributed to slow progress in high-quality, personalised care for the population who need it. A lack of data about a particular group drives a lack of focused research into their needs and preferences, and this in turn inhibits the efforts of those who would, or should, advocate for them, plan, design, deliver and evaluate effective support. It also presents a barrier to the effective management of resources by Armed Forces charities. As one services charity chief executive put it: 'If we want to more effectively support the needs of veterans, an identification of the actual population, and a robust interrogation of the market is what is needed.'

Across health and social care, but particularly in residential care – a setting where people can expect to spend several years of their lives, and where they are likely to be contributing to their care costs, and so can reasonably expect to exercise consumer choice – 'personalised' care (tailored to the individual) is synonymous with quality.

Working age veterans in residential care represent a particularly vulnerable group. Their impairments are typically among the most severe suffered by veterans. Moreover, like other small groups with specialised needs, they run a high risk of being overlooked; it is a challenge for them to exercise a collective 'voice'. As care and support is increasingly devolved to a local level, the group risks becoming still less 'visible'; there may be no more than one veteran in a CCG area.

This lack of visibility is problematic, because it makes it more difficult to ensure that the care pathways they use are effective, that residential care meets the needs of working age veterans, and that sufficient resources are dedicated to their care.

While the overall number of working age veterans is very small in the context of either the veteran population in the UK or the working age population in residential care, their numbers have grown as a result of recent conflicts and advances in medicine. This makes understanding their needs all the more important.

Advances in medical care

The human cost of recent conflicts has been great. In military operations since the 2001 invasion of Afghanistan, the UK Armed Forces have sustained 633 fatalities, 840 very serious or serious injuries or illnesses, and 11,044 injuries. ¹⁶ Yet the proportion of injured service personnel surviving injury and illness in conflict has increased substantially since conflicts like the Falklands War in 1982. Improvements in medical processes, best practice and processes at almost every level of medical treatment have saved countless lives.

During the course of the conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq, the survival rates of British soldiers sustaining serious injuries has improved substantially. In 2003, the combined case-fatality rate (the ratio of fatalities compared with the combined population of killed and injured) for British soldiers serving in Afghanistan and Iraq was 54 per cent. By 2006, this rate had declined to 38 per cent, by 2009 to 20 per cent, and by 2012 to 16 per cent.

With a rising survival rate among seriously wounded soldiers, the proportion of soldiers returning to the UK with missing limbs, traumatic brain injury and other disabilities has increased. Hundreds of service personnel underwent amputations as a result of operations in Afghanistan and Iraq and were discharged from service between 2001 and 2014, while 107 service personnel underwent multiple amputations as a result of injuries sustained in these conflicts, and 616 British soldiers have incurred brain injuries as a result of injuries sustained in Afghanistan alone, 22 of which were severe. Thousands of British service personnel have been treated at the Royal Centre for Defence Medicine and the Defence Medical Rehabilitation Centre at Headley Court since the start of the conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq.

It is also worth considering the fact that those who currently receive care and support at home may need to move to a care home or nursing home in the future, because of comorbidities, deterioration of their condition, or changes in the capacity of their family and friends to provide informal care.

The Armed Forces Covenant and its future

The Armed Forces Covenant, enshrined in law in the Armed Forces Act 2011, formalises a long-standing social contract between the Armed Forces and wider British society. It places new duties on the government to safeguard and in some cases prioritise health and social care for military personnel:

The Armed Forces community should enjoy the same standard of, and access to, healthcare as that received by any other UK citizen. Personnel injured on operations should be treated in conditions which recognise the specific needs of Service personnel... Veterans should receive priority treatment within the NHS where it relates to a condition resulting from their Service, subject to clinical need; while those injured in Service, whether physically or mentally, should be cared for in a way which reflects the Nation's moral obligation to them, while respecting that individual's wishes.\(^{17}\)

These requirements extend beyond active service personnel and into the veteran community. However, while the specific obligations of the nation to veterans who become ill or injured during their service is clear, the obligation to veterans who require a need for support after leaving service is less so:

The Covenant involves an obligation for life. In accessing services, veterans should expect the same level of support as any other citizen in society. Pension schemes should be fair and appropriate to the particular circumstances of Service personnel. All veterans should be able to access advice and in some cases additional support from the MOD and other government departments, and the charitable sector, although access may be affected if they do not reside in the UK. Those injured in Service or [who] have a health condition relating to Service should receive additional support, which may include a financial element depending on circumstances. 18

It is certainly orthodox to suggest that veterans might have distinct needs which the state should cater for – particularly given the unique role and contribution of the Armed Forces, and the risks and sacrifices associated with service.

Yet it is not uncontroversial to argue that society has a distinct moral obligation to *all* veterans that it does not have to other citizens. The fact that the terms of the Covenant are left open to interpretation raises potentially significant questions. As the size and profile of the veteran population changes, and service charities try to keep pace with that change – all against the continued backdrop of tightened public funding – it makes sense to ask if everyone is equally entitled to the Covenant's protection.

Our research indicates that most working age veterans with residential care needs fall into the latter, less clear-cut category of individuals who have become ill or sustained an injury *after* leaving the Armed Forces. The over-65 veteran population is also shifting; Second World War veterans are now in the minority, and national servicemen – whose service careers have, in the main, been shorter and less intensive – make up the greatest number.

A large proportion of specialist support for veterans is provided through services charities. As separate entities from the state, charities are, of course, entitled to decide who their beneficiaries are, and set eligibility criteria for their services accordingly. Most of the service charities operating care homes whom we consulted for this research took an inclusive approach, opening their doors to anyone who had ever served in the Armed Forces in any capacity. Beyond doubt, they were providing a valued – and often irreplaceable – service to all the beneficiaries we spoke to.

The Armed Forces Covenant represents a step change in how the UK plans and delivers care for veterans. But if the UK is to meet its obligations under the Covenant – and to do so sustainably into the future – more work is urgently needed. The Covenant raises questions about who should benefit. These can only be solved by better information about who our veterans are, and what they need.

2 The characteristics of working age veterans

This chapter describes the working age veteran population in residential care, laying out who they are, their illnesses and injuries, and their service histories. This chapter seeks to establish a clearer picture of the characteristics of this population, before chapter 3 examines their experiences, needs and priorities when it comes to residential care and the challenges that they face.

As discussed in chapter 1, there are no existing estimates of the number of working age veterans in residential care. Due to the relatively 'hidden' nature of this group, it proved challenging in this research to identify and gain access to individual ex-service personnel for interview. Despite attempting to make contact with a number of 'generalist', non-veteran charity care homes, we were unsuccessful, with one exception, in sourcing interviewees resident in these settings. We were instead reliant primarily on Armed Forces charity providers. We recorded interviews with 33 working age veterans resident in ten such settings, which is an informal and non-representative sample of working age veterans in residential care, and our observations should be understood in that context. We hypothesise that there are likely to be many more veterans aged under 65 in non-services care homes a still more hidden population. Their experience may be different, and although we have not been able to meet anyone in this group, we have tried to include them within the scope of our conclusion and recommendations.

Armed Forces charities excel in providing flexible residential care. Many working age veterans enter residential care as part of a transitional, 'step-down' arrangement before returning to independent living. They may be waiting for home adaptations, or a move to more suitable housing, while some undergo rehabilitation – for example, being trained to adapt

to loss of their sight at Blind Veterans UK's Brighton Centre. Others may spend periods of time in care homes for respite. The chief executive of one service charity described the wide range of support it provides:

We currently have two veterans who are of working age; they have disabilities that prevent work, and have been with us since they were in their mid-50s. We also have other members who are not in our care, because their disabilities are very severe – for example brain injuries – and they need high-intensity nursing; a lot of them are in local authority care through the health service. We've got those who are at home but get care from outside on a daily basis, so they're disabled and independent but they are receiving care as well. Then we've got those who need care for an intense, finite period; we probably have half a dozen emergency cases that we will place in the home because we know that they'll be able to convalesce there. Then let's say a veteran comes out of an operation on their limbs, or there are other difficulties: we'll set them up in the home for a time, until they are ready to go again.

This research has focused purely on long-term veterans of residential care. We did not examine veterans undergoing temporary, transitional or respite stays, and do not include them in the described sample of 33 working age veterans in residential care examined as part of this research.

Care homes run by veterans' charities accept veterans injured during service or as a result of their service, and those who after a career or even a short span in the Armed Forces left and were then injured or became ill. Around a third of our research sample of 33 fell into the former group, and the remaining two-thirds into the latter group; providers whom we interviewed confirmed that this ratio was in line with their experience of the wider working age veteran population.

There are reasons to believe that, even setting aside the conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq, the number of working age veterans requiring long-term residential care might grow. A significant proportion of the working age veterans in residential care we came across suffer from non-combat related

injuries, as a result of either accidents during military service, or long-term conditions such as progressive neurological disease. Moreover, there is the probability that the conditions of a number of veterans currently living independently might deteriorate, or that those currently cared for by parents and family might need residential care in future. An Armed Forces charity chief executive described this:

One of the things that concerns us is that there are people with severe injuries coming back from conflicts, who are alive but would not have been alive ten years ago, who are being cared for by their parents. These parents might not be able to care for them for that much longer. We are asking ourselves the question, 'Who looks after those veterans when they are in their 40s?' We have a number of members who would fall into that category, and of course you can add to that those whose bodies take wear and tear as they manage their conditions, who might need us in the future.

Approximately a third of our sample was made up of people with a range of long-term or degenerative conditions, most of which were not likely to be more prevalent among veterans than the general population.¹⁹ These conditions included Huntingdon's disease, multiple sclerosis (MS), early-onset dementia and Wernicke–Korsakoff syndrome (severe cognitive impairment often linked to alcoholism). The remainder – the larger group – had suffered trauma of some kind – primarily acquired brain injuries, but also paralysis, and loss of limbs or limb function. While these sorts of injury are more common among veterans, not all of them had been sustained during service; road traffic accidents were equally frequent causes of injury.

Within the veteran population as a whole, the majority who sustain traumatic injuries do not go into residential care; many are able to live independently, sometimes with informal care from friends and family. Consequently, those requiring residential care can in general be expected to be those with the most severe physical injuries or traumatic brain injuries. This was confirmed by our small sample, and also by at least one director of care in a national service charity:

The number of working age veterans in residential care will be small... It is probably those veterans who have sustained a brain injury who need more care than those who are amputees, in terms of physical injuries, because they are the ones who are likely to be the most dependent.

There was a range of ages within our sample, which included ex-service personnel from every decade of their working lives, from their early 20s to their early 60s. As might be expected, the younger veterans were more likely to have sustained their injuries during service, whereas older veterans were more likely to have acquired their needs after leaving the Armed Forces. This was confirmed by one care manager we spoke to:

A lot of younger residents will have been discharged from the military because of their physical condition and come straight to us, whereas the older residents are more likely to have been out of the military for some time.

Even the members of this small group differed widely in their characteristics: age; the nature, origin and severity of their conditions; and personal circumstances. They also entered into residential care as a result of different routes or 'care pathways', which are the subject of the next chapter.

3 Pathways to residential care

A 'care pathway' is the sequence of interventions undertaken by professionals during an individual's care. From the point of view of the person receiving care, it can be thought of as their 'journey from A to B' – in this case, from a period of service in the Armed Forces to a residential care setting. Where a care pathway functions well, the individual receives the right information and support (whether information or direct care) at the right time.

This chapter outlines the key challenges associated with institutional knowledge, signposting and the effective coverage of the whole veteran population, before the next chapter explores the actual experience of working age veterans in residential care.

Care pathways for the group we are concerned with can take two main forms, depending on whether their residential care needs are acquired while they are in service, or at any point after they have left. The care pathway of the first group (the smaller group, as we saw in the previous chapter) is, at least initially, defined by their relationship with their service arm (the Army, the Royal Navy or the Royal Air Force) and the Veterans Welfare Service (VWS). Henceforth, we refer to this group as individuals 'incapacitated during service'. Members of the second group, which we refer to as those 'incapacitated after service', do not have contact with the MOD or VWS, and arrive in residential care via the health and social care systems.

Care pathways: incapacitated during service

The care pathways that exist for working age veterans leaving the Armed Forces (permanently or temporarily) as a result of illness have changed significantly over the last few years. These changes have largely been stimulated by the recent conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq, and the increased need to process and support personnel injured in those conflicts effectively. In particular, significant improvements have been made to Armed Forces recovery capabilities – the processes by which injured or ill Armed Forces personnel are cared for and prepared for a return to either active service or civilian life.

The Defence Recovery Capability (DRC) is a collection of care and rehabilitative resources, including residential facilities, designed to support ill and injured personnel in their return to service within the Armed Forces or through their medical discharge and into civilian life. A joint initiative operated by the MOD, the Royal British Legion, Help for Heroes and other third sector partners, it became fully operational in mid-2013. Personnel remain the responsibility of their own service arm, and each service has its own recovery pathway: the Naval Service Recovery Pathway and the Army Recovery Capability (ARC), established in 2010, and the processes coordinated by the RAF Personnel Recovery unit.²⁰

Before the development of these new, more holistic and better-resourced care pathways, Armed Forces leaders were largely reliant on informal channels. We spoke to one RAF veteran who had been through discharge over ten years ago, before the new pathways were developed, following a serious head injury. He and his mother described how they had found the care home he was currently resident in through word of mouth:

Veteran: My father found it.

Mother: He found it by accident really. I went to a solicitor's... Someone there, their father-in-law was in [another care home]. My husband went to have a look at it, but they couldn't fit him in, but they recommended this place, and so I came and had a look, We thought it was a good place for him.

The development of the DRC and of formalised pathways in all three service arms has led to the MOD as a whole having greater involvement in the provision of care and support for ill and injured veterans. Previously, mainstream, non-military services played a larger role in managing veterans' recovery. For example, the MOD now runs personnel recovery units, which cater to service personnel preparing for a return to active service and to those leaving the Armed Forces as a result of their injury. Personnel recovery units are open to veterans on a case-by-case basis.²¹ An Armed Forces charity interviewee explained:

The system was very different before the Defence Recovery Capability, which has only existed for the last few years. Personal recovery units didn't exist, and veterans would have come through mainstream services rather than the MOD, because the MOD wasn't as much engaged in that process as they are these days. The reality of care has changed dramatically in the last five to ten years. There are a whole range of things which have played into this, not least of which is the survivability of those with complex injuries. That's one of the reasons why the Defence Recovery Capability was established.

This is reflected in the experience of veterans who have engaged with the new, more formal system. One young veteran we spoke to had been seriously injured as a result of an IED explosion in Afghanistan. He shared his experience:

At the very beginning of my injury I was in Birmingham's Queen Elizabeth Hospital. Then I went to Putney [The Royal Hospital for Neuro-disability]. Then as I recovered I went through a few other medical places with the Armed Forces... And then after a while I came here [to a care home run by a service charity]. The nurses and doctors, they suggested to me I should come here. That's why I'm in here.

Thus, care pathways for the 'incapacitated during service' group vary by service arm. The Army, the largest service arm and the one in which most working age veterans in residential care have served, provides for ill and injured personnel under the ARC, with access to DRC resources as required.

All soldiers are assigned a personnel recovery officer, who acts as a single point of contact for that individual and his or

her family, and coordinates the agencies involved in their recovery or transition to civilian life. ²² Officers may assist with practical arrangements, such as organising home adaptations for personnel with acquired disabilities. Personnel recovery officers remain in touch with a soldier for three months following a medical discharge, providing a valuable bridge between the Army and civilian life. Ex-soldiers also have access to a range of other resources to assist their transition, including the Recovery Career Service, which guides soldiers into civilian careers in partnership with many charities and private companies from the Army Benevolent Fund to the National Trust to IBM. ²³

If a serviceperson is identified early on as likely to need longer-term care and support after their discharge as a result of physical or psychological disability, then an anticipatory referral is made to the VWS, under the Tri-Service Welfare Referral Protocol.²⁴ The VWS then works with the appropriate charities and civilian services to organise a package of care for that serviceperson on their discharge. An official from the VWS told us:

Every service leaver who either has an enduring welfare need or is classified as a serious injured leaver can be referred to Veterans Welfare Service up to 12 weeks prior to discharge to allow us to review their needs and ensure the best level of support is in place prior to discharge.

Referrals under this protocol usually apply to the most severely injured service-leavers, for example those with head injuries requiring extended hospitalisation or those with severe, complex multiple injuries.

Once the individual has been discharged, responsibility is largely transferred from their service arm to the VWS (though certain arrangements such as adaptations made by in-service welfare managers remain the responsibility of the relevant service arm). The transfer involves a meeting with the veteran and sometimes also their family. VWS input continues as long as required in any particular case, and should involve

the 'facilitation of appropriate engagement with relevant organisations or agencies'.²⁵ In practice, this most often means directing the veteran to services provided by local authorities or veterans' charities. A representative from the VWS explained:

If any of our veterans whom we had a working relationship [with] were in need, our welfare managers would investigate the local support systems in place and be aiming to signpost the veteran to the options available to them... We work with local authorities and council to increase awareness of us and the support we can provide. We also work in partnership with service charities to provide support to veterans... Our relationships with them allow them to refer a veteran who they believe may need our support and vice versa.

Armed Forces charities are an integral part of the DRC, performing several functions, from core funding (in excess of £100 million that went into the development of the ARC came from charitable sources)²⁶ to providing employability support, specialist centres for rehabilitation and long-term residential care.

However, the connections between those leaving the Armed Forces in need and the charitable services and support available to them are not perfect. Some of the service charity representatives we spoke to suggested that parts of the DRC were not aware of their organisations or what they offered, as the following comment by one of them illustrates:

Our connection to the Armed Forces when it comes to working age veterans is just through the people we've worked with, or who we've been out to a seminar with — where we've been able to network with those people. In fact I have people from a personnel recovery unit coming down soon, and that was based on a chance call. A person from that PRU called our nursing home, they didn't understand what she wanted, and they put her through to me. As soon as I started talking about what we did, she said, 'Why didn't we know about this before?' I'm sure we are missing loads of people.

Nonetheless, at least one charity – Blesma, The Limbless Veterans – reported that it had no difficulty making contact with Armed Forces leavers:

We don't have the problems of access to beneficiaries that a lot of Armed Forces charities talk about, and I'll explain why. People ask, 'How does a potential beneficiary leaving the Armed Forces access you as a provider?' When the soldiers come through the hospital at Birmingham, we're there, and they are then on the books. There is the odd one or two we miss, but even then word of mouth gets around and we catch up with them.

The chief executive ascribed this to the high profile of the charity, the distinct and recognisable nature of limb loss as a condition, and the charity's close involvement with the DRC.

The chief executive of a veterans' care home explained that the most effective relationship between service charities and the Armed Forces could often be a combination of formal relationships supplemented by informal links:

We work very hard to maintain our links with the three services. In fact, on our governing body, we have three serving very senior medical officers. So there [are] good connections there, and we keep tabs with the rest of the ex-service community and we try to forge and maintain links with places which are dealing with today's current serving folk.

Cooperation between Armed Forces charities and the MOD has improved significantly in recent years. Largely as a consequence of this, care pathways for people incapacitated during service are clearer and more comprehensive than those for former personnel who become ill or injured after service. We explore their journeys in the next section. Nonetheless, in some cases, professionals involved in supporting Armed Forces personnel through a transition to civilian life appear not to be aware of the full range of available sector support. Informal connections and word of mouth are still too often the first port of call, which raises the possibility that some Armed Forces leavers are not getting the support they need and are entitled to.

Care pathways: incapacitated after service

The care pathways that exist for ex-service personnel who become ill or injured after their service are less clear and less formalised than those for servicemen and women incapacitated during service. These veterans are nevertheless entitled to the specialist care provided by Armed Forces charities, and can in some cases be supported by the MOD; for example, veterans can be treated in personnel recovery centres if their case is approved.

In the absence of a DRC equivalent for those who are not currently serving, ex-service personnel are dealt with as civilians, through universal health and social care systems. In our research sample, most veterans who fell into the 'incapacitated after service' group had learned about the setting where they lived through either informal channels or social care services.

One of the veterans we spoke to described how a social worker connected her with a veterans' care home she currently lives in after her condition deteriorated:

I was diagnosed in 2007 with primary progressive MS and it went from sort of the occasional tripping over, and then one walking stick, to two walking sticks, to a wheelchair, and then being totally immobile. It was a social worker who actually found this place for me. I had heard of it before, I had seen some adverts around the city, but it was a social worker that found a place here for me.

Another, who had initially used a specialist care home for respite, eventually moved there full time:

I suffered two subarachnoid brain haemorrhages... I came here on respite originally a couple of years ago, and I went home and I was buzzing, because it catered for all of my needs, it was everything I wanted. They would take me out on trips; they had a social recreation department where I could paint; I continue my photography because I'm an avid photographer, and I thought yeah, this is the place for me.

As these two relatively positive experiences demonstrate, signposting works well where health and social care professionals are well informed. However, because of their specialist nature, and the small, dispersed nature of the veteran population, services run by Armed Forces charities (which include residential care homes) are not always local to those who need them. This may reduce the likelihood that social workers are aware of their existence – and, consequently, the likelihood of veterans incapacitated after service being appropriately sign-posted. Charities themselves were aware of this as a problem, as illustrated by this comment from a volunteer coordinator:

There are numerous people who we could have helped earlier, who say they didn't know we existed or that we were an option. We definitely need to get our name out there to the veterans who need us... There must be more we can do in terms of signposting.

Moreover, ex-servicemen and women in this group may be unaware of their entitlement to specialist veterans' residential care – nor is this the sort of information health and social care professionals can reasonably be expected to have. In fact, most Armed Forces charities offer help to a veteran without a minimum service requirement, so national servicemen and women, or people who had short military careers decades earlier, are entitled to their care.

Barry Le Grys, the chief executive of Blesma, was confident that Blesma was picking up every veteran coming directly out of the Armed Forces, but was not confident that every veteran needing residential care was aware of what Blesma could offer:

Where we don't have every member, it's where those [sic] lose their limbs when they have left the service, through a car accident and that kind of thing. Through our profile in places like NHS limb centres, practice managers and such like, we will have people say, 'Well you've lost a limb and you used to be Armed Forces, get in touch with Blesma and ask.'

Without the right information about available support and their entitlements to it, there is a risk that ex-service personnel are forced back on services that are inappropriate for their needs. One nurse in a veterans' care home recounted a particularly poignant example:

The lady who is with us now, was previously in a dementia facility. She does not have dementia. She was put into a dementia care home because there was nowhere else for her. It's hard to think that's the situation we are in... We were lucky that we were able to get her a position in this home.

The chief executive of one charity which provides independent housing for veterans in Scotland related the issue more broadly to veteran housing charities:

There are something like 58 housing charities who are members of Veterans Scotland, all listing different criteria for different kinds of support available for veterans. Each one of those charities varies how they operate and all fulfil an important function. They're set up because no one else is providing that particular strand of work. Each one of those charities is aware of the other charities. The problem is that the veterans themselves don't know where to go, as there is not an effective single entry point.

In the absence of robust data on how many working age veterans in both groups (those incapacitated during service and those incapacitated after service) need residential care, how many of them access it, and how they get there, it is difficult to evaluate with any certainty exactly how well these care pathways function. The picture is also incomplete without information on veterans in non-specialist residential care. However, both of the main care pathways have shortcomings. Signposting is a major challenge in either case, indicating a need for better information among both specialist agencies (the MOD and DRC) and the general health and social care workforce. Where care pathways fail, ex-service personnel

Pathways to residential care

are at risk of unnecessary delays in accessing care, receiving inappropriate care, or not having their needs met at all. Our research indicates that this risk is greater for the larger, 'incapacitated after service' group.

4 The experience of working age veterans in residential care

This chapter explores the experience of working age veterans in residential care from the perspectives of the veterans themselves, as well as the staff involved in planning, delivering and directly providing care. Almost without exception, those we spoke to were satisfied with the medical aspects of the care they received, however we identified five commonly reported issues, all of which relate to veterans' social and emotional wellbeing:

- the risk of social isolation and boredom associated with being a young person living in a setting where the majority of residents are much older (we use 'age disparity' as a shorthand description)
- the distress associated with a sudden change in the ability to manage independently, which is particularly acute for a young person and even more so for service personnel recently in the prime of their career
- the strong desire for socialisation outside the care home, which
 is again felt particularly keenly by young people in residential
 care, and the difficulty of providing for that
- the importance that most veterans in residential care associated with being part of the veteran community, and the opportunity that represents for social activity
- the pressure on the families of working age veterans in residential care, and the emotional discomfort associated with this pressure

These factors represent challenges that are difficult to overcome, and opportunities that are difficult to exploit. In some cases, the severity of a veteran's disability or the limitations of a care home's resources mean that some of these problems are very hard to resolve. Ultimately, however, these key concerns and desires, as expressed by the veterans themselves and those working closely with them, must be addressed.

Throughout the chapter, we identify examples of best practice in meeting care home residents' needs holistically. Some of these examples are drawn from the wider (nonveteran) residential care arena, from which we believe specialist settings can learn.

Age disparity

The most significant challenge highlighted by the working age veterans we spoke to was the age disparity between them and the rest of the care home residents. Our interviewees were invariably either the only under-65s, or else one of a small handful, within a larger community of much older veterans. In the course of our research, we were made aware of only one specialist veterans' care home with more than ten working age residents. Several people described the sense of social isolation this engendered:

Interviewer: What was it like, being in a home with lots of older people?

Veteran 1: Depressing.

Mother: It was really, because they were very elderly. But it was the only place we could get him in at the time. He was in [hospital] for two and a half years, when he first came down. It was very isolating... Luckily his dad was alive then, he used to take him out... We used to hire that car on a Saturday so we could take him out.

Another working age veteran, one of very few veterans at a residential care home with a much older population, described how he would like the opportunity to be around people his own age:

I am around old people, but me, I am only a youngster... I would like to be around people of my own age, youngsters. There are not any youngsters here; I think I'm in here because the injury hurt my head very hard.

A third, particularly unhappy veteran we spoke to suggested that a lack of interaction with other young people was a key cause of his unhappiness:

Well I certainly don't have a 'holiday experience'... I don't have a lot of visitors, and more socialising with people like me would improve my outlook on life.

Another suggested that younger veterans might benefit from their own area and dedicated activities within a care home, pointing, in particular, to demand for access to better quality internet and digital services:

Yes, it might sound petty or whatever, but things like Wifi and Sky and television or those digital channels with the sport... I think [the care home management] maybe need to look at their policies and get them updated really. More things for younger people really would be my main aim. I think they need to look at a separate wing for younger people or whatever, just deal with them slightly differently from older people.

Providers themselves were also acutely aware of age disparity as a major challenge for this group of beneficiaries. One member of staff observed:

I know from the perspective of working age veterans it can be quite difficult for them because obviously they're surrounded by people that can be a lot older. So for example, our working age residents ranged from the late 40s to the late 50s, so to come into a situation where you've got residents ranging normally from your mid-70s up to your 100s, it can be quite difficult for them. There's a gap in taste when it comes to music, activities, recreation and even food.

Indeed, the problem is more than a gap in taste. As well as leading to boredom, the lack of appropriate social stimulation can even have an adverse impact on younger residents' wellbeing. A staff member at an Armed Forces charity care home described an example of this:

If we get the younger people in here, they don't want to stay here. It's an old people's home, and they're bored. One young gentleman comes to mind; he actually ended up becoming very isolated in his room, because he was only coming downstairs to the lounge area when he knew there were younger people in, who he could relate to, who he could talk to. It was difficult to see it, because that young man was just isolating himself more, and more, and more.

This issue affects older veterans too. The rising average age and the shortening length of stay of care home residents means that the age gap between someone in their early 60s and older care home residents can be significant. An Armed Forces charity chief executive commented on this:

What has changed over the last couple of decades is that the mean age of the elderly entering residential care has got higher and higher, and the time they spend in residential care has got shorter and shorter. What you are really saying is, when people go into residential care now, it really is twilight years. In fact, it's two years [on average]. Our average age now is 89½. If you are running a residential establishment, and you have someone of working age, even aged 60, that's a pretty big gap; its 30 years. You try organising a Christmas function around that one.

Many care homes work to provide working age veterans with at least a small amount of age-appropriate social activity. However, it is much harder for a home to establish a peer or social group appropriate to a particular veteran's age.

Of course, this age disparity is not just a problem for veterans. The 2014 Commission on Residential Care, for

which Demos was the secretariat, observed issues concerning the placement of young people among much older populations in residential care:

In some extreme cases, disabled adults in their 20s and 30s are still being accommodated alongside much older, frailer people with very different needs and aspirations, because of the limited choice in some parts of the country of appropriate housing with care for disabled people.²⁷

One chief executive was clear that residential care, where the average age of residents is so much higher than that of most veterans, is not an ideal place for working age veterans to be:

Back when this home was set up during the Great War... it was looking after young guys coming back from the front, with an average age of 22. The average age now is 87. We continue to make it clear that our doors are open to younger people, but the reality is that the younger generation of those needing that high-intensity nursing and care tend to try and do it in the community. What they don't want to do, and you wouldn't blame them, is live in an environment where the average age is 87.

Yet there are those working age veterans for whom residential care continues to be the best place to meet their preferences and needs. The small size of this care group and their specialist needs can make it difficult to provide individuals with their own space, as was previously the case in the Armed Forces charity home described by a staff member below:

We have a five-bed disabled wing; in the past four or five years we have had younger wounded veterans in there, but we have none now. It's not the right place for them. While we have a physiotherapy and hydrotherapy wing attached to that, it's sat in the middle of the care home. The average age in a care home these days is about 85 years old. If you are sat in an old people's home, it's just not the right place for a younger person. This wing was five beds in a nearly 80-bed facility. Those that we did [admit] have complex needs, and, if truth be told, they couldn't find anywhere else for them to go, because they were really complex.

Of course, while these difficulties must be acknowledged, there is no excuse for a lack of person-centred care and individualised support, and there are plenty of best practice examples of how to accommodate differing needs, tastes and preferences within a single setting. Encouraging care homes to share best practice when caring for working age veterans, and developing structures through which to distribute best practice, could play an important role in ensuring that what can be done is being done.

Best practice: person-centred care among an older population at the Royal Star and Garter care home

In a number of care homes we came across there was only one working age veteran in a home with a significantly older population. In some of these homes, the measures described to us that had been taken to provide social opportunities could be regarded as inadequate. In other cases, a person-centred approach had enabled care home staff to safeguard the social and emotional wellbeing of the veteran in some respects. The Royal Star and Garter care home presented a good example of person-centred care provision among an older population.

The Royal Star and Garter, which caters overwhelmingly for a particularly elderly population, was very flexible in its provision of care to a single working age resident, recognising and accommodating his particular social needs and priorities. The care managers found him a room away from the main part of the home with a patio area, in order to provide him with a different environment and a greater feeling of independence. They also ensured that there were in-house social activities that appealed to him, and facilitated his engagement with his former service arm. While they did not isolate him from the home, his care managers endeavoured to create a space more appropriate for a working age person.

Social activities outside the care home

Related to the importance of age-appropriate activities for working age veterans in residential care is the importance of providing opportunities for veterans to engage socially outside the care home. The desire for more involvement in activities outside the home was flagged up to us by a number of the veterans we interviewed. This can be particularly challenging with working age veterans, not least because of their often severe impairments. A number of veterans we spoke to highlighted the value of even small activities outside their care homes. One described how she felt younger veterans benefited from activities outside the care home, and how she wanted to be able to partake in such activities more frequently:

I think for a lot of the younger veterans who need 24-hour care its more difficult, but I think that they need more stimulation than just what can be provided in the care home, with other young people... There is this befriending service which I've asked my sister to look into to see how much it would cost. I could maybe go out a bit more, go to the pictures or something like that. One gentleman here goes to an art class once a week, and someone comes and says 'Hi' and he gets to go out and about.

Another veteran originally from Nepal made trips into the community outside the care home, giving him a chance to engage with young people from his cultural background:

I like it but I would like them to be of my age, youngsters. There is only one chance to meet youngsters, those of my own language, and it's in the Nepalese restaurant in [town]. I go there for Friday when I can.

This need is not just felt by working age veterans in residential care. In fact, it could be argued that a veteran identity provides an excellent vehicle through which to connect the residents of a veterans' care home to the wider community, an opportunity for social engagement outside the home that many veterans' care homes are keen to exploit. A nurse told us about the activities at the care home where she works:

[Being a veterans' care home] gives a bit of a theme to some of the things that we do at the home, particularly with our social and recreation activities. Recently, over the last couple of years, we've had a lot of celebrations, year anniversaries etc. That's obviously very important, and every year we have a remembrance service in November. And again, that's very important for these people, to be able to pay their respects, and be able to do something together in the community to remember.

The head of care at one care home similarly described how they used the veteran status of the residents as a way of engaging socially in the wider community:

One of our younger people cannot actually communicate at all, but those who are more physically able, yes they would absolutely meet up with the wider community and younger people. We take the opportunities we can to undertake social activities outside of the centre. For example, when we go up to the Cenotaph on Remembrance Day, we stay up in a hotel and we make it a social event.

While many of the veterans we spoke to were hungry for more opportunities to interact with the wider world outside their care home, a few veterans felt that their social needs outside the care home were well catered for. These veterans were sometimes involved in the activities of other veteran charities. One told us:

I've gone to places I would never have been, I went to Twickenham three times, I watched the Six Nations, I've been to Buckingham Palace twice, I've met the Queen. Yesterday I was in Portsmouth... I went to Fontwell Racecourse and had a wonderful day. All of that was paid for by the Not Forgotten Association, who look after us.

Another working age veteran suggested:

I think some of the younger veterans that are going to be coming through won't find this sort of establishment to their liking, basically because I think they need more stimulus in their life to keep them going.

Best practice: facilitating social engagement at Queen Alexandra Hospital Home

While all of the veterans' care homes we researched offered social opportunities, with some care homes using the veteran status of the residents as a basis for social engagement in the wider community, Queen Alexandra Hospital Home represented a particularly strong example of best practice as a result of the use of volunteers.

At the Queen Alexandra Hospital Home, the use of external volunteers, organised by the home or engaged with through another Armed Forces charity, is key to the social and emotional wellbeing of working age veterans. Volunteers are recruited and coordinated by a specific member of staff, and, in addition to fundraising for the home, undertake social activities with the veterans. The use of regular volunteers presents opportunities for working age residents to socialise with a range of people, many of whom had an Armed Forces connection, and to interact meaningfully with the wider community. At the same time, by working closely with other veterans' charities, such as the Not Forgotten Association, Queen Alexandra Hospital Home is able to present veterans with regular leisure and recreation opportunities outside the home, from concerts to sports events or just days out. Several veterans at the home described in warm terms the variety of social opportunities and events that were regularly on offer.

The effective use of volunteers to facilitate social engagement at Queen Alexandra Hospital Home provides a clear and replicable example of best practice in this area.

Those running veterans' care homes are aware of the social benefit of young veterans' engagement in the wider community, particularly with other young people, and often facilitate such activities when they can. However, in some cases, the physical condition of working age veterans and the age of the rest of the veteran population of which they are a part can limit their capacity to communicate at all. As one care manager explained:

It's very important that you try and help them live a life, but they're often very limited because of their physical disabilities. The younger residents that I have here now are actually physically not able to participate that much in recreational activity. When they could, what we did was try to facilitate them meeting up with other younger people. Most of the activities in the [care home] are designed for older people, because of the age of the general population. For those who are more physically able, we'd help them meet up with the wider community and younger people.

Rapid change in level of independence

A number of the veterans we spoke to said that a rapid change in their social role was one of the most difficult things about being a working age veteran in residential care. Many had in a very short period of time gone from having active, working lives in the Armed Forces to being dependent on support from others to meet their daily needs. Many found this change difficult. Of course, a rapid loss of independence is distressing to anyone, especially a young person, who acquires an illness or disability. Yet it can be compounded for a working age veteran by the loss of a clearly defined social role, by the loss of the prestige associated with being a serving member of the Armed Forces, and by a relatively rapid transition from military life - where a premium is placed on physical capacity and capability, as well as selfless contribution to a greater goal - to civilian life. A senior nurse in a veterans' care home explained this transition as it applies to working age veterans succinctly:

I've seen people come in here with horrendous injuries, where they have stepped on an IED in Afghanistan and lost both their legs and their sight, at 20 years of age. They thought they were going to be in the military until they were 45, and suddenly their career [is] over... Trying to pick up the pieces of life after you've been injured is hard. When people get to their 70s and 80s, they feel like they shouldn't be working anymore. They've done their bit, and paid into society. Whereas the young people will be expecting that they will be able to

pay into society, will be able to contribute, will be able to do their part and play their role. But if you have been severely physically disabled and lost your job, then there can be a loss of dignity, a feeling of less value, less worth.

A working age veteran we spoke to explained the difficulty that he had had adjusting to life in a care home after he quite rapidly became ill:

My career progressed very rapidly and I was headhunted to go and lead a department in a specialist school, for kids with severe learning difficulties. Unfortunately I was on school holiday, went out to play golf, and had my first brain haemorrhage. So my post-Army career came to a very quick end, before it really started... It took a lot of adjustment, coming out of your former life, and going into an institution, where all my needs are catered for. I found that difficult to adjust to; I still do sometimes.

This veteran also described how he had dealt with the loss of his career through becoming a photographer, which, in a powerful example of best practice, the care home he lived in had encouraged and used as the basis for his contribution to life in the care home:

Photography plays a big part in my life. I took my first picture at seven, now I've got my own website, I contribute to a lot of blogs, I sell images to Flickr and quite a few sites, and I do photography for the home.

Best practice: asset-based approaches to care

Our research identified a number of examples of best practice related to asset-based approaches to care within Armed Forces charity residential care homes – approaches to care that focused not on what a veteran could not do, but on what they could do, and how that could contribute to their wellbeing.

At one Armed Forces charity-run care home, some residents contributed to the operation of the care home

in a manner that fulfilled their interests as well as providing them with social opportunities and a sense of purpose, with one working age resident for example undertaking photography on behalf of the home. At another home, a working age resident worked in fundraising and communication for the home, while a previous working age resident had helped with gardening. At the Royal British Legion Industries Village in Aylesford, working age residents were given jobs as part of their recovery, with the wider village - encompassing older and younger veterans, with various needs and transitional and permanent residency - based around the operation of a factory business as a route to recovery and transition to civilian life. In each case, these jobs and roles, from simple tasks to more formal appointments, made an important contribution to the social and emotional wellbeing of working age veterans. Another veteran described how he felt a loss of dignity as a result of his worsening condition:

I was getting care in my home, but basically there was just me and my other half who was having to do a lot more than normal... I felt I lost my dignity a little, but here they recognise that you do have dignity still and try their best to accommodate you.

A member of care staff at an Armed Forces charity described how they work to counteract the feelings of disempowerment that veterans might feel by building back up their practical capabilities and independence:

It can be quite difficult to feel that you are not a burden on others, especially if you are from the Armed Forces. They were the people who defended the country, and now they might feel like there is not much that they can do. But you'd be amazed how little it takes to combat that feeling. We might start small, and say, 'why don't you send your family an email?' We'll teach them how to use a computer, or read their own bank statements. That means so much, they don't have to get someone else to help them do it. And you give them the equipment they need to make themselves a cup of tea, and they can do that themselves. That kind of stuff can make them feel

that they are capable, that they can achieve things. Younger people do not want to be a burden particularly, and so this particularly helps them.

This example shows not only how important it is to increase the independence of veterans in residential care, but also how vital it is to the emotional and social wellbeing of a working age veteran to ensure that they do not feel a burden. In the context of new and often severe disability, it is important to highlight what a working age veteran can do, and to provide opportunities for them to contribute to the care home in which they are a resident, and the wider community, in any way they can.

The veteran community

It was a huge source of pride for many of the veterans we spoke to that they were part of the veteran community. Often, the fact that the home they were in was run by an Armed Forces charity, and that their fellow residents were veterans, was a source of pride. It gave them a sense of camaraderie, membership and self-worth that was important to their wellbeing. One veteran put it:

It is very important to me as veterans are like-minded and we understand each other. There is great comradeship between people that have served. I could not get this in any other home.

Another summarised why he felt it was important that he was part of the veteran community in care:

It's about the soldiers' mentality. If someone loses an arm or leg, we'd rip the mick out of each other and call them one-armed bandits. It's our way of coping, it's nice to have that. I think it's important to remember where you and the other veterans came from, keep the grassroots of the care home, remember why it was formed, keep that veteran ethos. Our chief executive is ex-military, our matron's ex-military, and it's important that we have that.

Another veteran also commented on the affinity between members of the veteran community:

I think it is quite important that it's a veteran home, because you've got people that really are on the same wavelength. I don't know how to describe it really... because you're on the same wavelength, you laugh at adversity together, and things like that, whereas most people wouldn't understand why you're laughing at things like that.

A number of veterans were still involved in their old regiments or service arms. One, who formerly served in the Royal Logistics Corps, described with joy how he is still in contact with his old colleagues:

I was in Aldershot two or three days ago, for my regimental birthday. They come and take me to the regimental birthday. We do it every year.

A senior nurse at a veterans' care home described how the connection between young veterans in residential care could play an important role in their social wellbeing:

Young veterans tend to have the same hobbies, the same interests, the same sense of humour... Often they will have served in the same conflicts or in similar situations, depending on what they were doing in the Forces, and so there is a rapport that helps bring them together.

Yet as one Armed Forces charity chief executive explained, while being a veteran was an important factor, its importance should not be exaggerated. Other aspects of commonality, like age, were ultimately more important in a practical sense:

Ignore the fact they have those specific needs which they can't satisfy themselves, just think of it as a group of people, a group of ex-military people. It doesn't matter that some of them are in wheelchairs. There will be moments where they'll all sit there and have a beer and share camaraderie and mix the interests of the

younger and the older, comparing life as a marine in 1940 to life as a marine in 2015. There is great respect in both directions. They'll all sit down and have a great chinwag and a reminiscence, but quite quickly the younger ones will start looking at their watch and thinking, 'right, it's time to go and do some young people things'.

However, being a veteran and being involved in the veteran community is an important source of pride for veterans in residential care, and a useful basis for social engagement and mutual support between veterans. A chief executive described how his charity's model used this veteran bond in its operation:

We know who our beneficiaries are, and they know who we are. We don't run case files on members; our members are members for life. Either they have intense needs, or they are a contributor. We are very strongly behind the principles of members supporting members. Members are supplied with support, and that support is member delivered. Over time, they may well be both.

Familial support and relationships

Almost all the working age veterans we interviewed told us that their illness or injury had put significant pressure on their family life. Frequently their changing circumstances had led to marital breakdown. For some, this was clearly still a source of great sorrow. In a number of cases, the immediate reason for a veteran's entry into residential care was a breakdown in their partner's ability to cope with the unasked for responsibility of providing often very intense care. One veteran told us about how her condition put pressure on her marriage:

When I left the Armed Forces I was pregnant. We moved around a lot with my husband still being in the Army. I was diagnosed with primary progressive MS. Later I had to go into residential care for two weeks... because my husband was gone off on a deployment and he was my main carer. That's when social workers became involved, because that was when we realised that the marriage was really broken down, and I was putting too much pressure on him.

I was getting care in the home but basically there was just me and him and he was having to do a lot more than normal. When my condition worsened, I moved into here.

Another veteran described how the pressure on his wife as well as the severity of his condition had led him to move into residential care full time:

My wife has a high pressure career. As the carers were leaving at the end of the week, she was taking over that role and looking after me on the weekend. It got to a point where my wife couldn't really cope any more, holding down her job and looking after me, it got too much. Not just for her but for me as well, because I wasn't getting the stimulus, I wasn't able to get out and about as much as I'd like. I was having constant seizures, day in day out, sometimes two or three times a day.

In most cases, the families of working age veterans in residential care continued to make sacrifices to facilitate their care, for example moving to be close to a certain care home. Indeed, more than half of the veterans we spoke to told us that their family had moved to be closer to their care home. The family of the veteran from Nepal had moved to the UK to be closer to him. In another case, a veteran's mother had moved to be near the care home:

We've got a flat just down the road we've bought now, so I stay there and I can come and see him. I come down all the time. I'm only just recovering from cancer myself, I'm on the road to recovery now, but I haven't been here much this year. And my daughter comes down. She looks after all his affairs.

A head of care told us about a veteran's wife who did not live in the area where her husband was living who would come for several weeks at a time to be with him. Although the strain under which families can be placed by the onset of severe impairment in one of their members is often very considerable, the positive impact of family support – where that support is sustainable – can be profound:

The other younger resident doesn't have a lot of familial interaction, because his family don't live in the area, though his wife does try to come down fairly regularly. She comes and stays with us for a few weeks, because she lives so far away. She will come down when she can and spend a few days chatting with him, being with him and taking him down to the communal areas to participate in social events, and that does always give him a massive boost. You can see it long after she's gone.

No reform can fully alleviate the burden felt by the families of severely ill or injured veterans who require residential care. However, some small practical changes – such as providing financial support for the immediate families of working age veterans who have to move across the UK in order to access specialist care – could reduce pressure on families. It should also be noted that our moral obligations under the Armed Forces Covenant extend to the families of veterans:

Those who serve in the Armed Forces, whether Regular or Reserve, those who have served in the past, and their families, should face no disadvantage compared to other citizens in the provision of public and commercial services. Special consideration is appropriate in some cases, especially for those who have given most such as the injured and the bereaved.²⁹

It is not clear how the damage done to families by sudden and serious illness or injury might be alleviated further, but certainly the pressure on the families of working age veterans should be considered.

Many of the problems highlighted in this chapter, like the age disparity between veterans in residential care, or the pressure on families, are complex, and influenced by intractable factors such as the limitation of resources or the severity of an individual veteran's disability. Yet there are a number of ways in which the experience of young veterans in residential care could be improved, through instigating relevant best practice methods or improving signposting and information management. The experiences of veterans

The experience of working age veterans

explored in this chapter are in numerous important ways intrinsically related to key tensions and difficulties in the provision of care to working age veterans on an institutional and sector-wide level. These tensions and challenges are explored in the next chapter.

5 Sector-wide issues in care provision

There are a number of structural tensions at the heart of the provision of residential care for working age ex-service personnel. As we have seen, the small size of the population concerned is a challenge in itself. In addition, there are further tensions that providers must navigate – care close to home is desirable, as is the opportunity to interact with people of a similar age and background, but just as important is access to specialist services for the specific injuries (eg. limb loss, traumatic brain injury) that disproportionately affect personnel incapacitated during service. This chapter explores these broader challenges, which stretch beyond the experiences of individual interviewees, before we present our recommendations for how the social needs and wellbeing of working age veterans might be improved.

Within the complex landscape of Armed Forces charities there are a number of national centres providing specialist care – for example, the Queen Alexandra Hospital Home in West Sussex (which provides care for physically disabled veterans of all ages), the Blackpool home run by Blesma and Blind Veterans UK's rehabilitation centre in Brighton. Often, ex-service personnel come through these centres for a short-term transitional stay. But those who can expect to need residential support in the longer term face a difficult choice between the highest quality, specialist care and the desire to remain close to family. The impact of this choice was laid out in the previous chapter: families forced to move, and veterans living away from their families or opting for less specialised care closer to home. One chief executive commented:

All of us operating care homes would tell you that there is a catchment area attached to all of this placement as well as other considerations. People don't like moving too far from their own

community or family. If your family is in the north east, you don't want to be sent off to a place of care in Devon.

This tension affects veterans of all ages (including over-65s) with specialist care needs, though those of working age face the additional challenge of the age disparity between themselves and the majority of care home residents.

Considering the 'age disparity' problem in isolation, the obvious solution would seem to be a dedicated care home for veterans under 65. On the face of it, this should address many of the issues identified in the previous chapter – the challenges for providers of catering to different generations' tastes and expectations for their surroundings and activities, and avoiding social isolation among younger residents and its negative impact on health and wellbeing. However, the major barrier here is the diversity of need, and the level of specialist need, among the younger cohort of veterans.

It is worth quoting at length from two interviews with providers grappling with this three-way trade-off between geography, age disparity and specialism of care. One told us:

In my opinion, I think it would be much more appropriate to have a specific place to look after people who need residential care from a certain age group, so that you can set up social activities that satisfy all the residents, younger and older. But that adds another level of difficulty. Blind Veterans helps veterans cope with how to live without sight, Blesma deals with a totally different type of rehabilitation. Even though it would better to cater for their social needs, putting young veterans with these diverse needs together I don't think would be a good idea, because of their diverse care needs. Perhaps they could all be in the same site, but in different facilities.

Another described the problem with putting working age veterans who need care in one place:

The overall cohort of working age veterans in care is small. You could take the sort of Soviet approach and say, 'Therefore, why don't the charities get together, and put all of those people in one place designed for working age veterans, to focus the programme, engagement and activities you run there?' That would make some sense. For example, everyone in the North West [would go] to Blesma, if you are in the middle of the country Star and Garter, if you are in Scotland, Erskine, Royal British Legion across the country. We do a bit of it now; if another home has facilities or a care capability we don't have that someone needs we refer them to that, if there is a regional issue we will always say to the family, 'Why don't you try there and see if that works?' But the issue you would then hit is the specialism of care.

While the current situation where younger veterans live among a population of much older veterans is problematic, a solution that gives them the best quality of medical care, proximity to their family and a peer group of younger residents is exceptionally difficult to achieve.

Ultimately, the objective from the perspective of the veterans, the VWS and charities is not to be in residential care at all. One senior veterans' charity officer told us:

These days, the drive is to not put people into residential care until they absolutely have to. In my experience, even some of the most complex trauma patients are not in residential care; I'm aware from my previous experience in the MOD that even some of those with the most complex care needs are being cared for 24 hours a day in their own homes.

Nonetheless, for ex-service personnel as for the general disabled working age population, residential care continues to be the most appropriate type of care for some – and some require care of a specialist nature. If the location of these homes and the small size of this group means therefore that younger veterans have to live within a population of older veterans, potentially far away from their families, we need to consider more thoroughly how to meet their social and psychological needs. In the face of these challenges, flexibility in the delivery of care and support is crucial.

Connecting veterans with the care they need

The other great challenge highlighted in our research is that of how best to connect veterans to the care they need, a challenge addressed effectively in Lord Ashcroft's *Veterans' Transition Review*.

Chapter 3 of this report looked at the care pathways – the journeys taken from being a serving member of the Armed Forces to receiving long-term residential care – that exist for ex-service personnel of working age. We found that there were two main pathways depending on the group that veterans fell into: those incapacitated during service, and those incapacitated after service. While there is a need for improved information and signposting across the board, care pathways appear to function better for the former group than for the latter. As the transition from service to civilian life has become formalised, with the development of the DRC and the work of the VWS, younger personnel leaving service today are better connected to support services than previous generations. By contrast, it is far more difficult to effectively signpost veterans within general medical pathways to veteran care resources than it is to direct a veteran leaving the Armed Forces to those resources through the VWS directly.

This problem is compounded by the reluctance of many veterans to seek and take up help. As Lord Ashcroft concluded in his recent review of transition support for veterans:

[This group's] pride, their view of themselves as self-reliant individuals, the fact that they have endured serious hardships on operations, and the feeling that others must be in greater need than them contribute to making them reluctant to seek help.³⁰

The Ashcroft review further raised the possibility that the large number of veterans' charities, and the sheer range of available support (general and specialist) might actually contribute to the difficulty connecting with the help needed. *The Veterans' Transition Review*, which found 350 veterans' charities in the UK, surmised, 'Given that only 14% of Service Leavers fall into the vulnerable category, there is in effect one charity for every

eight Service Leavers each year that are actually likely to need help.'31 This large number of separate charities reflects the level of specialisation of care and support available to veterans in the UK. It is easy to regard such a stark statistic as evidence that the sector is over-resourced. Yet where there is a serious lack of accurate information on beneficiaries - as with the veteran community – that forms a significant barrier to the effective management of resources. The key problem is clearly not the volume of help available, or the good will and desire to help veterans, the scale of which is attested to by the rapid growth of charities like Help for Heroes, but connecting veterans to the help they need. The 2015 follow-up to The Veterans' Transition Review suggested that the work of Cobseo had gone some way towards unifying the sector and had helped to 'bring charities together on themes that were previously uncoordinated'.32 Despite this organisational progress, it remains the case that veterans are often not signposted effectively towards the appropriate support or care services.

Solving this problem requires better information management on the part of the government and the third sector, better signposting for the veterans themselves, and better coordination between Armed Forces charities to ensure that all veterans – in particular the much smaller group who are under 65 – receive the help that they need.

The establishment of coordinating organisations such as Cobseo and Veterans Scotland represents a partial solution to this issue, but more could be done within these frameworks to share information, both between the charities themselves and with MOD partners in the VWS. Moreover, the picture is still confusing from the perspective of individual veterans themselves. *The Veterans' Transition Review* recommended the creation of a 24-hour contact centre as a single point of contact, with a dedicated website bringing together the VWS and veterans' charities. Within this framework, a 'single joint tracking and management system' could be exploited, as well as a directory of accredited Armed Forces charities, managed by Cobseo. However, Ashcroft's 2015 follow-up report

suggested that other means of simplifying signposting for veterans in need might be more effective.³³ While Demos supports efforts to improve signposting, an important prerequisite for such efforts is the improvement of the evidence base regarding the veteran population. It is crucial to understand the size and needs of the working age section of the veteran community, and to know and share best practice in meeting veterans' needs in the round. An Armed Forces charity chief executive we spoke to explained the importance of obtaining evidence:

Generally speaking, to define and resource an effective pathway to help, it is very important to invest in gathering evidence to clearly define exactly how big this market of veterans in need actually is. Until that happens, no one can be sure that their resourcing decisions represent a sound return on investment.

Even where Armed Forces charities enjoy significant resources, if they lack information these funds either do not reach everyone they should or do not go towards providing the services for which there is the greatest demand or need. The result is 'piecemeal' support, as well described by this Armed Forces charity volunteer coordinator working in a care home:

We get a lot of financial support from various associations and charities, and some of them come in and chat to their 'own'. But it's very much a piecemeal effort. We've got an Armed Forces charity volunteering group and that's to try and address that problem, to try and get something going for the veterans. It is good for the residents, to have that close-knit community, so they can have a chat and that sort of thing. It's been really helpful for our veterans and the community as a whole. They get forgotten about, to be honest. And if they do want something like a one-to-one session, it's really having to come out of their own pocket.

The Armed Forces Covenant was established in order to set out the relationship between the nation, the state and the Armed Forces, and to reaffirm the moral obligation that we have to members of the Armed Forces and to veterans. There was a sense among providers whom we interviewed that the practical impact of the Armed Forces Covenant on care for veterans had been minor. As one Armed Forces charity chief executive argued, this is not a criticism of the Covenant, but an acknowledgement of the difficult environment in which it has been introduced:

The Armed Forces Covenant has not really changed things, but made things more complex. That's not because local authorities do not see the issue or acknowledge the service of veterans, or do not value it. It's because they are under a lot of financial pressures in the current climate. It's wider than the Covenant; it's about social services under pressure. There are big economic plates shifting in the country that are having a bigger impact.

There is a strong argument to be made that local authorities, NHS trusts and other government agencies and authorities should be provided with specific guidance on how they can best fulfil the moral obligation that we have to members of the Armed Forces and to veterans in the context of resources that have been strained by reduced budgets.

Ultimately, improving the social and emotional wellbeing of working age veterans in residential care, and ensuring that veterans who might require residential care are aware of the help that is available to them, both involve connecting those in need to the resources that can help them.

Conclusion and recommendations

This report has highlighted a number of areas for improvement in what residential care currently offers ex-servicemen and women of working age:

- the lack of data on veterans generally, and on those in residential care specifically, which has a significant negative impact on the planning and resourcing of services
- the lack of awareness among veterans and health and social care professionals of entitlements to support and availability of support
- the more substantial lack among awareness among those who become ill or disabled after leaving the Armed Forces, who lack a dedicated care pathway
- working age veterans, and those involved in providing residential care for them, suffering from some of the same problems as other small groups in care, such as low visibility and muted patient voice, and from the practical constraints small care groups suffer from: tensions between service specialisation and geographical spread, and between whether services are designed around specialist needs or around age
- the negative impact on families that sudden severe injury and illness can have (which is not a problem confined to veterans), and the fact that this can be worsened by the geographic distance between specialist care facilities and where a veteran's family might live
- the significant discrepancy in age between working age residents of care homes and the average resident (again, not a problem confined to veterans)

These issues break down into three core areas:

- ensuring that working age veterans, as a small group, are seen, heard and understood
- · connecting them, equitably, with the care that is available to them and that they are entitled to
- · making certain that the care they receive is personalised and of a high quality

The management of information across government and the third sector sits at the heart of these areas, and must be a part of the solution. At the same time, the Armed Forces Covenant provides a licence to ask more of government departments not primarily involved in the care of veterans, and incentivises them to consider the needs of veterans more fully.

Drawing on our research and the best practice we identified, we make the following six recommendations:

1. Veterans UK should work with Armed Forces charities to establish and maintain a database of all UK veterans in residential care.

Working age veterans in residential care are not recorded or registered in any database or by any single organisation. Consequently, as a group they are essentially invisible to the state and to many of the third sector organisations capable of providing the support they need. In common with other small groups, their lack of visibility makes it difficult for service providers and policy-makers to understand or address their needs in any systematic way.

We propose that Veterans UK, with the support of the MOD, should establish and maintain an up-to-date database of all veterans in residential care, across both veterans' and non-specialist care homes. Armed Forces charities should be full and active partners in this process, contributing knowledge, expertise and their own valuable data. Once established, the database should be accessible to Armed Forces charities and government services, and there should be an expectation that they use it to inform the effective and equitable allocation of resources across all veterans in this group. The database should record ex-service personnel by

age, permitting an accurate understanding of the specific characteristics of those aged under 65.

Lord Ashcroft's *Veterans' Transition Review* and its follow-up report recommended establishing a single point of contact for veterans, or otherwise simplifying access to the support offered by veterans' charities.³⁴ We support the idea of a single 'gateway' to support, but emphasise that improving data needs to be the absolute priority.

Establishing accurate data on the veteran population is the key to better planning and resourcing across the sector. For the sub-group that we are concerned with, under-65s in residential care, the proposed database would present the first accurate picture. Furthermore, it would provide a platform for data to be shared effectively between Veterans UK and Armed Forces charities – crucial to overcoming the signposting problems that prevent veterans from connecting with the help they need in an often complex landscape.

2. Health and social care professionals should proactively identify veterans with whom they come into contact.

The inadequacy of data on the veteran population (especially, but not limited to, those of working age) limits the ability of service providers to target potential beneficiaries. To connect with each other, veterans and Armed Forces charities are reliant on formal referrals and less formal signposting. Veterans incapacitated during service benefit from a fairly formalised referral pathway, and are more likely to be put in touch with the relevant support, though awareness on the part of the MOD and individual service arms of available charitable support was sometimes lacking. Veterans who become ill or injured after service may not know about available support, or that they are entitled to it. Rather than the MOD or their former service arm, ex-servicemen and women in this group are in contact, in the first instance, with mainstream NHS and social care services.

We therefore recommend that all health and social care professionals should seek to identify and record the veteran status of individuals they come into professional contact with, and assist in directing them to appropriate support. Through these efforts the particular care needs of veterans as a group would be more thoroughly considered, and awareness increased among veterans of the health and social care resources available to them.

The Veterans' Transition Review recommends issuing service-leavers with an identifying 'veteran's card', bearing a telephone number and website as a single point of contact for assistance and support.³⁵ Formally maintaining some contact with service-leavers is a positive step, but our research shows that it is ex-service personnel who become ill or injured some time after leaving the service who are most likely to fall foul of the reliance on informal signposting. The proactive 'Do ask, do tell' policy that we propose should be of particular benefit to the 'incapacitated after service' group. By putting the onus on health and social care professionals to make veteran status part of the conversation, this measure would increase the reach of veteran support to those who are unsure or unaware of their entitlements or who might simply be too proud to ask.

3. Every local authority in the UK should have a designated 'Armed Forces and Veterans Champion' with a combined remit for health, social care, housing, employability and education.

In common with other small groups with specialised needs, veterans – and in particular the smaller sub-group of working age veterans – run a high risk of being overlooked. As care and support is increasingly devolved to a local level, the group is at risk of becoming still less 'visible'; there may be no more than one or two veterans in any local administrative area, for example. For this reason, the bulk of gathering intelligence on, planning for, and championing working age veterans' needs will need to be done at a national level. Nonetheless, regardless of the national picture, every working age veteran lives in a locality, in a community – and that applies whether their place of residence is their own home or a residential care home. It is challenging, but imperative, to make sure that veterans' needs are represented, and represented in the round, in the place where they live.

Currently, every NHS board in Scotland, every local health board in Wales and every CCG in England has a designated Armed Forces Champion.³⁶ Likewise, all four devolved nations have Jobcentre Plus Armed Forces Champions to assist service families to find employment.³⁷ Only Scotland has an Armed Forces and Veterans Champion in every local authority - a local councillor with specific responsibility for championing veterans in the local area on issues such as access to housing.³⁸ Given the importance of a holistic consideration of veterans' needs, and the challenges associated with scale, further fragmentation of representative functions is not ideal. Instead, we propose a single, local champion role, which combines all the areas of need stipulated in the Armed Forces Covenant, including health, social care, education and housing. Champions should be expected to consider the particular needs of working age veterans as a group, and to represent and proactively seek the views equally of those living in their own homes and those living in residential care.

4. A best practice network in residential care for veterans should be established, and a best practice guide produced.

In the course of this research we spoke to a number of working age veterans in residential care, and a number of care providers. There was consensus among them on a number of issues which made high-quality care challenging to deliver. Above all, they identified the age disparity between working age veterans and the general care home cohort, and the difficulty in catering for younger veterans' different tastes, expectations and needs for social interaction. At the same time, we saw and heard of examples of settings overcoming these barriers - through flexibility in the use of accommodation, personalised care where staff took the trouble to deploy residents' assets in the service of the care home community, and opportunities provided for social interaction outside the care home (sometimes with service experience as a uniting theme). Moreover, we are aware of a wealth of good practice in personalisation and community links in the general care home community, on

which all settings with a working age veteran in their care could draw.

We therefore propose the creation of a best practice information sharing network, specifically addressing residential care for working age ex-service personnel. This could be usefully facilitated by Cobseo, and should include care homes run by Armed Forces charities, generalist care home providers, and umbrella bodies like the National Care Forum, the Social Care Institute for Excellence and Care England, and the Care Quality Commission. This network would bring specialists and generalists in working age residential care together. It would provide a forum in which to identify and share best practice for working age veterans in residential care, as well as working age residents in care homes in general.

This network would further serve as the vehicle for the production of a best practice guide focusing in particular on innovations and successful initiatives for meeting the social and emotional needs of working age veterans in residential care.

5. Armed Forces charities should sponsor an annual 'Veterans' Voices' review of veterans in residential care.

As previously discussed, the smaller and more hidden the group, the more it struggles to have its voice heard. To address this deficit, we suggest the institution of an annual review of (all) veterans in residential care, with the aim of capturing their concerns and experiences. In practice, the review might involve a combination of survey, interviews and group consultation. The voice of veterans under 65 should receive equal representation with the majority, over-65 population.

Complementing the collection of 'hard' data on numbers and location of veterans in residential care (see recommendation 1 above), the review would help to gauge residential care settings' performance in meeting veterans' less tangible needs – like that for social interaction, and a sense of purpose. Its findings should feed into the work of the proposed best practice network (see recommendation 4 above) and should

be presented to the Minister of State for Defence Personnel, Welfare and Veterans.

We envisage that one of the larger Armed Forces charities, or a coalition of charities, would be best placed to sponsor this review, though we would like to see it have the full support of two important public bodies: Public Voice, the work-stream within NHS England which ensures that the views and experience of the public are embedded into all levels of commissioning and provision of NHS services, ³⁹ and Healthwatch England, the national consumer champion for health and social care.

Residential care settings should conduct skills audits for their working age residents, encouraging contribution to the care home and wider community.

A rapid loss of independence associated with sudden illness or injury, especially where it necessitates a move to residential care, can be particularly distressing for people of working age. This may be even truer of ex-service personnel, many of whom have a self-concept based on their physical capability, independence and service of others. Our research suggests that a lack of opportunity for engagement with others in the home, or with the wider community outside the home, can contribute to a sense of boredom and isolation among this group, and even precipitate a deterioration in their condition.

For many years there has been a focus in social care on what people cannot do – their limitations and medical needs – rather than what they can do and their personal goals. This is slowly changing across the sector in line with personcentred care and a shift from 'deficit-based' to 'asset-based' approaches to care. We saw examples of this approach in some care homes, where veterans were employing their individual skills – undertaking photography around the home, or tending the gardens.

In a care home setting, just as in a business, or any other setting in which people live or work together, conducting a skills audit simply involves identifying the particular skills and assets that each individual brings. Understanding this can be

Conclusion and recommendations

transformative – giving self-worth to the individual and self-sufficiency to the community, and often providing a salutary reminder of the artificial nature of distinctions between the 'helpful' and the 'helpless', the 'doer' and the 'done-to'.

Providing opportunities for veterans to contribute, particularly where those contributions are associated with social opportunities or the concept of service, has significant potential to transform the social and emotional wellbeing of working age veterans.

The lives of working age veterans can be transformed by the support on offer from government departments, Armed Forces charities, and wider civil society. Despite their often great levels of need, the small and hidden population in residential care have for too long been almost invisible to policy-makers. These reforms in how we share information, connect people with support, and tailor that support to individuals' needs could significantly improve the situation of both current veterans and those who will leave the Armed Forces in the future.

Notes

- Help for Heroes, 'Help for Heroes future needs study', Sep 1 2014, www.helpforheroes.org.uk/news/posts/2014/september/ h4h-future-need-case-study/ (accessed 1 Oct 2015); the total combined fatalities, VSI, SI and injuries for Operation Telic: Defence Analytical Services and Advice (DASA), 'Number of Op Telic UK Military and Civilian Casualties, 1 January 2003 to 15 April 2009', www.palacebarracksmemorialgarden. co.uk/archive/op_telic.pdf (accessed 21 Oct 2015); Operation Herrick: MOD, 'Afghanistan Casualty and Fatality Tables', 7 October 2001 to 28 February 2015, https://www.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ file/413527/20150310_British_casualties_in_ Afghanistan_7Octo1_to_28Feb15.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015); and Operations Gritrock, Toral and Shader: MOD, 'Quarterly UK Armed Forces and UK Entitled Civilian Operational Casualty and Fatality Statistics', 6 August 2014 to 31 March 2015, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/ uploads/attachment_data/file/445302/20150623_Quarterly_ UKAF_UK_Entitled_Civilian_Op_Casualty_Fatality_ Stats_6Aug14_to_30Jun15_O.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).
- 2 Scottish Veterans Commissioner, 'Scotland's veterans champions', nd, www.gov.scot/About/public-bodies/veterans-commissioner/ScotlandsVeteransChampions, (accessed 1 Oct 2015); Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, 'Memorandum from the Ministry of Defence', Feb 2013, www.publications. parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmniaf/51/51we11.htm (accessed 1 Oct 2015).
- 3 Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, 'Memorandum from the Ministry of Defence'.

- 4 P Burstow (chair), The Commission on Residential Care, Demos, 2014, www.demos.co.uk/files/Demos_CORC_report. pdf?1409673172 (accessed 18 Oct 2015).
- 5 FOI request to Ministry of Defence, 2 Apr 2015, FOI2015/02514.
- The War Disablement Pension under the War Pension Scheme provides monetary recompense for veterans' illness, injury, disease or death caused, or made worse, by service before 6 April 2005. The Armed Forces Compensation Scheme provides the same service for injury, disease or death, caused, or made worse, by service after 6 April 2005. The Armed Forces Pension Scheme is the Armed Forces' general pension provision.
- FOI request to Ministry of Defence, 2 Apr 2015, FOI2015/02514.
- 8 The total combined fatalities, VSI, SI and injuries for Operation Telic: DASA, 'Number of Op Telic UK Military and Civilian Casualties, 1 January 2003 to 15 April 2009'; MOD, 'Afghanistan Casualty and Fatality Tables', 7 October 2001 to 28 February 2015; Operations Gritrock, Toral and Shader: MOD, 'Quarterly UK Armed Forces and UK Entitled Civilian Operational Casualty and Fatality Statistics', 6 August 2014 to 31 March 2015.
- 9 Ministry of Defence, 'War Pensions Scheme statistics: index', 6 Mar 2014, https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/war-pension-recipients-index (accessed 11 Aug 2014); Ministry of Defence, 'Armed Forces Compensation Scheme statistics: index', 25 Feb 2014, https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/armed-forces-compensation-scheme-statistics-index, accessed 11 Aug 2014).
- 10 Royal British Legion, Compass Partnership and the Forces in Mind Trust, A UK Household Survey of the Ex-Service Community, 2014, www.britishlegion.org.uk/media/2275/2014 householdsurveyreport.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

- 11 Ibid, pp 4-7.
- 12 Ibid, p 8.
- 13 Ibid, p 8.
- ONS, 'Estimation and adjustment for communal establishments', Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census, Sep 2012, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk (accessed 18 Oct 2015).
- ONS, 'Communal establishment management and type by sex by age', Office for National Statistics, 2011, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/dc4210ewla (accessed 25 Aug 2015).
- The total combined fatalities, VSI, SI and injuries for Operation Telic: DASA, 'Number of Op Telic UK Military and Civilian Casualties, 1 January 2003 to 15 April 2009'; MOD, 'Afghanistan Casualty and Fatality Tables', 7 October 2001 to 28 February 2015; Operations Gritrock, Toral and Shader: MOD, 'Quarterly UK Armed Forces and UK Entitled Civilian Operational Casualty and Fatality Statistics', 6 August 2014 to 31 March 2015.
- 17 C Taylor, 'Armed Forces Covenant', standard note SN/IA/5979, 9 Jun 2011, www.parliament.uk/briefing-papers/SN05979.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).
- 18 Ibid.
- 19 A potential exception to this is Wernicke–Korsakoff syndrome, a condition associated with alcoholism. There is some evidence to suggest that veterans are more likely than non-veterans to consume alcohol excessively. See E Jones and NT Fear, 'Alcohol use and misuse within the military: a review', International Review of Psychiatry 23, Apr 2011, pp 166–72, www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/alcoholsmoking/ Jones2011-Alcoholuseandmisusewithinthemilitary.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

- 20 Defence Committee, 'Support for the recovery of wounded, injured or sick personnel' in The Armed Forces Covenant in Action Part 5: Military Casualties, a Review of Progress, Oct 2014, www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/cmdfence/527/52707.htm#n66 (accessed 1 Oct 2015); A Robathan, speech on army recovery capability to the Colchester Personnel Recovery Centre, Colchester Garrison, 11 Feb 2011, https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/2011-02-11-army-recovery-capability--2 (accessed 1 Oct 2015); Royal Navy, Personnel Support Brief for all Royal Navy & Royal Marines Personnel and Their Families, 2010, www.nff.org.uk/pdfdocs/psboct20102.pdf (accessed 11 Oct 2015).
- 21 M Ashcroft, Veterans' Transition Review, 2014, www. veteranstransition.co.uk/vtrreport.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).
- 22 Army, 'About ARC', 2015, www.army.mod.uk/welfare-support/23864.aspx (accessed 1 Oct 2015).
- 23 Ibid; Army, 'The recovery pathway', nd, www.army.mod.uk/documents/general/Recovery_Mission_-_What_Happens_When.pdf (accessed 1 Oct 2015).
- 24 MOD, 'Tri-service Welfare Referral (TSWR) protocol for referral to the MOD Veterans Welfare Service', Veterans UK, nd, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397755/TSWR_Protocol_final_Jan15. pdf (accessed 15 Aug 2015).
- 25 Ibid.
- Army Recovery Capability, 'The command and care of the wounded, injured & sick', nd, http://ssafasupportgroups. org.uk/sites/default/files/users/u39/ARC%20command%20 and%20care.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).
- 27 Burstow, The Commission on Residential Care.

- 28 Ibid.
- 29 Ministry of Defence, The Armed Forces Covenant, 2011, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/49469/the_armed_forces_covenant.pdf (accessed 21 Oct 2015).
- 30 Ashcroft, Veterans' Transition Review, p 130.
- 31 Ibid, p 129.
- M Ashcroft, 'Veterans' Transition Review: follow-up report', Jul 2015, www.veteranstransition.co.uk/vtr_final_report%20 2015.pdf (accessed 21 Oct 2015).
- 33 Ibid.
- 34 Ashcroft, Veterans' Transition Review; Ashcroft, 'Veterans' Transition Review: follow-up report'.
- 35 Ashcroft, Veterans' Transition Review, p 136.
- 36 Scottish Veterans Commissioner, 'Scotland's veterans champions'; Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, 'Memorandum from the Ministry of Defence'.
- 37 Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, 'Memorandum from the Ministry of Defence'.
- Burstow, The Commission on Residential Care, p 115.
- NHS England, 'Public voice', nd, https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/public-voice/ (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

References

Army, 'About ARC', 2015, www.army.mod.uk/welfare-support/23864.aspx (accessed 1 Oct 2015).

Army, 'The recovery pathway', nd, www.army.mod.uk/documents/general/Recovery_Mission_--_What_Happens_When.pdf (accessed 1 Oct 2015).

Army Recovery Capability, 'The command and care of the wounded, injured & sick', nd, http://ssafasupportgroups.org.uk/sites/default/files/users/u39/ARC%20command%20 and%20care.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Ashcroft M, *Veterans' Transition Review*, 2014, www. veteranstransition.co.uk/vtrreport.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Ashcroft M, 'Veterans' Transition Review: follow-up report', Jul 2015, www.veteranstransition.co.uk/vtr_final_report%20 2015.pdf (accessed 21 Oct 2015).

Burstow P (chair), *The Commission on Residential Care*, Demos, 2014, www.demos.co.uk/files/Demos_CORC_report. pdf?1409673172 (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Defence Analytical Services and Advice, 'Number of Op Telic UK Military and Civilian Casualties, 1 January 2003 to 15 April 2009', www.palacebarracksmemorialgarden.co.uk/archive/op_telic.pdf (accessed 21 Oct 2015).

Defence Committee, 'Support for the recovery of wounded, injured or sick personnel' in *The Armed Forces Covenant in Action Part 5: Military Casualties, a Review of Progress*, Oct 2014, www. publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201415/cmselect/

cmdfence/527/52707.htm#n66 (accessed 1 Oct 2015). Help for Heroes, 'Help for Heroes future needs study', Sep 2014, www.helpforheroes.org.uk/news/posts/2014/september/h4h-future-need-case-study/ (accessed 1 Oct 2015).

Jones E and Fear NT, 'Alcohol use and misuse within the military: a review', *International Review of Psychiatry* 23, Apr 2011, pp 166–72, www.kcl.ac.uk/kcmhr/publications/assetfiles/alcoholsmoking/Jones2011-Alcoholuseandmisusewithinthemilit ary.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Ministry of Defence, 'Afghanistan Casualty and Fatality Tables', 7 October 2001 to 28 February 2015, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/413527/20150310_British_casualties_in_ Afghanistan_7Octo1_to_28Feb15.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Ministry of Defence, 'Armed Forces Compensation Scheme statistics: index', 25 Feb 2014, https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/armed-forces-compensation-scheme-statistics-index, (accessed 11 Aug 2014).

Ministry of Defence, 'Quarterly UK Armed Forces and UK Entitled Civilian Operational Casualty and Fatality Statistics', 6 August 2014 to 31 March 2015, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/445302/20150623_Quarterly_UKAF_UK_Entitled_Civilian_Op_Casualty_Fatality_Stats_6Aug14_to_30Jun15_O.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Ministry of Defence, 'Tri-service Welfare Referral (TSWR) protocol for referral to the MOD Veterans Welfare Service', Veterans UK, nd, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397755/TSWR_Protocol_final_Jan15.pdf (accessed 15 Aug 2015).

Ministry of Defence, 'War Pensions Scheme statistics: index', 6 Mar 2014, https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/

war-pension-recipients-index (accessed 11 Aug 2014).

Ministry of Defence, *The Armed Forces Covenant*, 2011, https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/49469/the_armed_forces_covenant.pdf (accessed 21 Oct 2015).

NHS England, 'Public voice', nd, https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/patients/public-voice/ (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Northern Ireland Affairs Committee, 'Memorandum from the Ministry of Defence', Feb 2013, www.publications.parliament. uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmniaf/51/51we11.htm (accessed 1 Oct 2015).

ONS, 'Communal establishment management and type by sex by age', Office for National Statistics, 2011, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011/dc4210ewla (accessed 25 Aug 2015).

ONS, 'Estimation and adjustment for communal establishments', Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census, Sep 2012, https://www.nomisweb.co.uk (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Robathan A, speech on army recovery capability to the Colchester Personnel Recovery Centre, Colchester Garrison, 11 Feb 2011, https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/2011-02-11-army-recovery-capability--2 (accessed 1 Oct 2015).

Royal British Legion, Compass Partnership and the Forces in Mind Trust, *A UK Household Survey of the Ex-Service Community*, 2014, www.britishlegion.org.uk/media/2275/2014householdsur veyreport.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Royal Navy, Personnel Support Brief for all Royal Navy & Royal Marines Personnel and Their Families, 2010, www.nff.org.uk/pdfdocs/psboct20102.pdf (accessed 11 Oct 2015).

References

Scottish Veterans Commissioner, 'Scotland's veterans champions', nd, www.gov.scot/About/public-bodies/veterans-commissioner/ScotlandsVeteransChampions (accessed 1 Oct 2015).

Taylor C, 'Armed Forces Covenant', standard note SN/ IA/5979, 9 Jun 2011, www.parliament.uk/briefing-papers/ SN05979.pdf (accessed 18 Oct 2015).

Demos - Licence to Publish

The work (as defined below) is provided under the terms of this licence ('licence'). The work is protected by copyright and/or other applicable law. Any use of the work other than as authorized under this licence is prohibited. By exercising any rights to the work provided here, you accept and agree to be bound by the terms of this licence. Demos grants you the rights contained here in consideration of your acceptance of such terms and conditions.

1 Definitions

- A 'Collective Work' means a work, such as a periodical issue, anthology or encyclopedia, in which the Work in its entirety in unmodified form, along with a number of other contributions, constituting separate and independent works in themselves, are assembled into a collective whole. A work that constitutes a Collective Work will not be considered a Derivative Work (as defined below) for the purposes of this Licence.
- B 'Derivative Work' means a work based upon the Work or upon the Work and other preexisting works, such as a musical arrangement, dramatization, fictionalization, motion picture version, sound recording, art reproduction, abridgment, condensation, or any other form in which the Work may be recast, transformed, or adapted, except that a work that constitutes a Collective Work or a translation from English into another language will not be considered a Derivative Work for the purpose of this Licence.
- c 'Licensor' means the individual or entity that offers the Work under the terms of this Licence.
- D 'Original Author' means the individual or entity who created the Work.
- E 'Work' means the copyrightable work of authorship offered under the terms of this Licence.
- F 'You' means an individual or entity exercising rights under this Licence who has not previously violated the terms of this Licence with respect to the Work, or who has received express permission from Demos to exercise rights under this Licence despite a previous violation.

2 Fair Use Rights

Nothing in this licence is intended to reduce, limit, or restrict any rights arising from fair use, first sale or other limitations on the exclusive rights of the copyright owner under copyright law or other applicable laws.

3 Licence Grant

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Licence, Licensor hereby grants You a worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive, perpetual (for the duration of the applicable copyright) licence to exercise the rights in the Work as stated below:

- A to reproduce the Work, to incorporate the Work into one or more Collective Works, and to reproduce the Work as incorporated in the Collective Works;
- B to distribute copies or phonorecords of, display publicly, perform publicly, and perform publicly by means of a digital audio transmission the Work including as incorporated in Collective Works; The above rights may be exercised in all media and formats whether now known or hereafter devised. The above rights include the right to make such modifications as are technically necessary to exercise the rights in other media and formats. All rights not expressly granted by Licensor are hereby reserved.

4 Restrictions

The licence granted in Section 3 above is expressly made subject to and limited by the following restrictions:

- A You may distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform the Work only under the terms of this Licence, and You must include a copy of, or the Uniform Resource Identifier for, this Licence with every copy or phonorecord of the Work You distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform. You may not offer or impose any terms on the Work that alter or restrict the terms of this Licence or the recipients' exercise of the rights granted hereunder. You may not sublicence the Work. You must keep intact all notices that refer to this Licence and to the disclaimer of warranties. You may not distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform the Work with any technological measures that control access or use of the Work in a manner inconsistent with the terms of this Licence Agreement. The above applies to the Work as incorporated in a Collective Work, but this does not require the Collective Work apart from the Work itself to be made subject to the terms of this Licence. If You create a Collective Work, youn notice from any Licencor You must, to the extent practicable, remove from the Collective Work any reference to such Licenso or the Original Author, as requested.
- B You may not exercise any of the rights granted to You in Section 3 above in any manner that is primarily intended for or directed toward commercial advantage or private monetary compensation. The exchange of the Work for other copyrighted works by means of digital

- filesharing or otherwise shall not be considered to be intended for or directed toward commercial advantage or private monetary compensation, provided there is no payment of any monetary compensation in connection with the exchange of copyrighted works.
- c If you distribute, publicly display, publicly perform, or publicly digitally perform the Work or any Collective Works, you must keep intact all copyright notices for the Work and give the Original Author credit reasonable to the medium or means You are utilizing by conveying the name (or pseudonym if applicable) of the Original Author if supplied; the title of the Work if supplied. Such credit may be implemented in any reasonable manner; provided, however, that in the case of a Collective Work, at a minimum such credit will appear where any other comparable authorship credit appears and in a manner at least as prominent as such other comparable authorship credit.

5 Representations, Warranties and Disclaimer

- A By offering the Work for public release under this Licence, Licensor represents and warrants that, to the best of Licensor's knowledge after reasonable inquiry:
- i Licensor has secured all rights in the Work necessary to grant the licence rights hereunder and to permit the lawful exercise of the rights granted hereunder without You having any obligation to pay any royalties, compulsory licence fees, residuals or any other payments:
- ii The Work does not infringe the copyright, trademark, publicity rights, common law rights or any other right of any third party or constitute defamation, invasion of privacy or other tortious injury to any third party.
- B except as expressly stated in this licence or otherwise agreed in writing or required by applicable law, the work is licenced on an 'as is' basis, without warranties of any kind, either express or implied including, without limitation, any warranties regarding the contents or accuracy of the work.

6 Limitation on Liability

Except to the extent required by applicable law, and except for damages arising from liability to a third party resulting from breach of the warranties in section 5, in no event will licensor be liable to you on any legal theory for any special, incidental, consequential, punitive or exemplary damages arising out of this licence or the use of the work, even if licensor has been advised of the possibility of such damages.

7 Termination

- A This Licence and the rights granted hereunder will terminate automatically upon any breach by You of the terms of this Licence. Individuals or entities who have received Collective Works from You under this Licence, however, will not have their licences terminated provided such individuals or entities remain in full compliance with those licences. Sections 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8 will survive any termination of this Licence.
- B Subject to the above terms and conditions, the licence granted here is perpetual (for the duration of the applicable copyright in the Work). Notwithstanding the above, Licensor reserves the right to release the Work under different licence terms or to stop distributing the Work at any time; provided, however that any such election will not serve to withdraw this Licence (or any other licence that has been, or is required to be, granted under the terms of this Licence), and this Licence will continue in full force and effect unless terminated as stated above.

8 Miscellaneous

- A Each time You distribute or publicly digitally perform the Work or a Collective Work, Demos offers to the recipient a licence to the Work on the same terms and conditions as the licence granted to You under this Licence.
- B If any provision of this Licence is invalid or unenforceable under applicable law, it shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of the terms of this Licence, and without further action by the parties to this agreement, such provision shall be reformed to the minimum extent necessary to make such provision valid and enforceable.
- c No term or provision of this Licence shall be deemed waived and no breach consented to unless such waiver or consent shall be in writing and signed by the party to be charged with such waiver or consent.
- D This Licence constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the Work licensed here. There are no understandings, agreements or representations with respect to the Work not specified here. Licensor shall not be bound by any additional provisions that may appear in any communication from You. This Licence may not be modified without the mutual written agreement of Demos and You.



The Armed Forces Covenant 2011 cemented the obligations of government and civil society to all those who have served their country. Yet there remain some groups of ex-service personnel about whom not enough is known. This report looks at one such group: working age veterans in residential care.

Based on interviews with veterans aged under 65 in care home settings and with care providers, this report explores the nature, needs and preferences of this small but significant population. It finds that a lack of data and inadequate sign-posting hamper efforts to connect individuals to the support they need. Ill and injured ex-service personnel may face difficult choices between specialist care and less suitable provision closer to home. Where they are the only young person in a setting designed for much older residents, their personal preferences or needs for social interaction too often go unmet.

The report makes recommendations for how government and care providers, working closely with Armed Forces charities, can ensure this group is better served – through better data collection, proactive identification, and drawing on best practice in personalised care from across the wider residential care sector.

Louis Reynolds and Ally Paget are Researchers at Demos.







ISBN 978-1-909037-95-3 £10

© Demos

